West
Yorkshire

WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 2.00 PM ON THURSDAY, 11 JULY 2019
IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON
STREET, LEEDS

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

3. EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE
PRESS AND PUBLIC

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE AND

YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE HELD ON 11 JUNE
(Pages 1 - 8)

5. CAPITAL SPENDING & PROJECT APPROVALS
(Pages 9 -78)

6. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS
(Pages 79 - 88)

7. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BUSINESS INVESTMENT

PANEL HELD ON 4 JUNE
(Pages 89 - 92)

Signed:
Bl

Managing Director
West Yorkshire Combined Authority




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 4

West
Yorkshi.re

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
HELD ON TUESDAY, 11 JUNE 2019 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A,
WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:

Councillor Peter Box CBE (Chair) Wakefield Council

Roger Marsh OBE (Deputy Chair) Leeds City Region Enterprise
Partnership

Councillor Peter McBride Kirklees Council

Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw Bradford Council

Councillor Jonathan Pryor Leeds City Council

Councillor Jane Scullion Calderdale Council

Councillor Andrew Waller City of York Council

In attendance:

John Nolan SQW

Rebecca Pates SQW

Melanie Corcoran West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Angela Taylor West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Rachel Jones West Yorkshire Combined Authority

James Bennett WYCA

Caroline Farnham-Crossland West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Jess McNeill WYCA

Leanne Walsh West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Phil Davies West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Megan Hemingway West Yorkshire Combined Authority

79. Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Denise Jeffery.

80. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.

81. Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED - That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

to the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of Appendix 6 to Agenda Item 6 on the grounds that it is

1



82.

83.

84.

likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of
the proceedings, that if members of the press and public were present there
would be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the reasons set out
in the report that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee held on 8 May 2019

Resolved: That the minutes of the West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee held on 8 May 2019 be approved and signed by the Chair.

Capital Programme Update

The Committee considered a report which provided an update on the Growth
Deal programme. The latest figures were attached and the Committee was
informed that actual expenditure made up 93.9% of the outturn forecast.

The report also provided an update on the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund.

The Committee was updated on the independent review of the growth deal
and the one year out report was attached. The providers SQW attended the
meeting and presented the initial report findings. The final report is due to be
published in December 2019 and will be presented to this Committee.

Members commented that they would like to see more measurement as to
how the investment from the Transport Fund had impacted local residents

lives, and a narrative as to how it had enabled travel to work and school as
well as opening up housing opportunities, along with photographic evidence. It
was suggested the report could include how local jobs, suppliers and
apprenticeships had also benefitted.

It was acknowledged that the report scope was around economic impact and
so value for money was deemed highly important as was the assessment of
how schemes related to one another. The schemes were all long term capital
projects and as such members acknowledged only early evidence of impact
was available at present.

Resolved: That the year-end performance of the Combined Authority Capital
Programme and the progress in implementing the Growth Deal including the
Transport Fund be noted.

Capital Spending & Project Approvals

The Committee considered a report which presented a number of West
Yorkshire Combined Authority supported projects, including West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund (Transport Fund) and Growth Fund, for consideration by
the Investment Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the Combined Authority’s
assurance process.



Members discussed the proposals for the progression of the following
schemes which were detailed in the submitted report:

¢ Mirfield to Dewsbury to Leeds (M2D2L)

¢ South East Bradford Link Road (SEBLR)

¢ Halifax Living

¢ City Connect Phase 3

¢ Gain Lane Enterprise Zone

¢ West Yorkshire Combined Authority Head Office Accommodation
Project

The Committee was also advised of the following three decisions made
through delegations to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director since the
last meeting:

¢ Project Lapwing
¢ Leeds City Region Growth Service
¢ Garforth Rail Station Park and Ride

Resolved:

(i) Thatin respect of Mirfield to Dewsbury to Leeds project the Investment
Committee recommends to the Combined Authority:

(@)

(b)

That the M2D2L project proceeds through decision point 2 and
work commences on activity 3 (outline business case).

That an indicative approval of the Combined Authority’s contribution
of £12.5 million (which will be funded through the West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund) is given with full approval to spend being
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).
The total project value will be £13 million, this will be funded from a
Combined Authority contribution plus £500,000 from the Leeds City
Council Section 106 fund).

That costs of £325,000 are approved in order to progress the
scheme to decision point 3 (outline business case) taking the total
project approval to £535,000.

That the Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the
existing funding agreement with Kirklees Council for additional
expenditure of up to £325,000 from the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund, taking the total funding agreement value to
£535,000.

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report
including at decision point 4 and through a delegation to the
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme



(ii)

(iif)

Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within
the tolerances outlined in the report.

That in respect of the South East Bradford Link Road (SEBLR) the
Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority:

(@) That the South East Bradford Link Road scheme proceeds through
decision point 2 and work commences on activity 3 (outline
business case).

(b) That an indicative approval to a maximum Combined Authority’s
contribution of £46.3 million (which will be funded through the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund) is given with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the
assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs).

(c) That additional development costs of £1.213 million are approved in
order to progress the scheme to decision point 3 (outline business
case), taking the total project approval to £1.304 million.

(d) That the Combined Authority enters in to an addendum to the
existing funding agreement with Bradford Council for expenditure of
up to £1.304 million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

(e) That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report,
including at decision points 4 and 5 through a delegation to the
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within
the tolerances outlined in the report.

That in respect of Halifax Living the Investment Committee approves:

(@) That the Halifax Living scheme proceeds through decision point 3
and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(b) That an indicative approval, capped at £830,000 is given from the
Local Growth Fund (Growth Deal 3) towards a total scheme cost of
£18.387 million with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision
point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(c) That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report
including at decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing
Director following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme
remaining within the tolerances outlined in the report.

4



(iv)

(V)

(vi)

That in respect of City Connect Phase 3 the Investment Committee
through delegated approval approves:

(@)

(e)

That the City Connect Phase 3 Leeds project proceeds through
decision point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business
case).

That an indicative approval to the total project value of £6.504
million is given, with £6.14 million to be funded from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, and £360,000 from the Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP), with full approval
to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through
the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs).

That additional development costs of £15,000 are approved in order
to progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs), taking the total project approval to £100,000.

That the Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the
existing Funding Agreement with Leeds City Council for
expenditure of up to £100,000 from the Transport Fund.

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme
remaining within the tolerances outlined in the report.

That in respect of Gain Lane Enterprise Zone the Investment Committee
recommends to the Combined Authority:

(@)

That the Enterprise Zone Gain Lane project proceeds through
decision point 3 (outline business case) and work commences on
activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That an indicative approval of up to £9.877 million for the Combined
Authority contribution to the scheme (subject to finalised due
diligence) is given from the Local Growth Fund towards a total
scheme cost of £37.604 million with full approval to spend being
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report
including at decision point 5 through a delegation to the Investment
Committee following a recommendation by the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in the report.

That in respect of West Yorkshire Combined Authority Head Office

5



(a)

Accommodation Project Investment Committee approves:

(@) That the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Head Office
Accommodation project proceeds through decision point 4 and
work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(b) That an indicative approval to the total project cost of £6.847 million
is given. This will be funded entirely by the Combined Authority
(from the approved budget for Corporate Projects), with full
approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business
case with finalised costs).

(c) That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route set out in the submitted report following
a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within
the tolerances outlined in the report.

City Connect Phase 3 — Leeds

Resolved: That in respect of City Connect Phase 3 the Investment
Committee through delegated approval approves that:

(@)  The City Connect Phase 3 Leeds project proceeds through
decision point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business
case).

(b) An indicative approval to the total project value of £6.504 million
is given, with £6.14 million to be funded from the West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund, and £360,000 from the Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP), with full approval to
spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through
the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs).

(c) Additional development costs of £15,000 are approved in order
to progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs), taking the total project approval to
£100,000.

(d) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the
existing Funding Agreement with Leeds City Council for
expenditure of up to £100,000 from the Transport Fund.

(e) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme
remaining within the tolerances outlined in the report.



85. Draft Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 30 April 2019

Resolved: That the draft minutes of the Business Investment Committee held
on 30 April 2019 be noted.



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

West
Yorkshire

Combined

Authority

Reportto:  West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date: 11 July 2019
Subject: Capital Spending and Project Approvals
Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s):  Craig Taylor / Cath Pinn

1.1

1.2

1.3

Purpose of this report

To put forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a number of
West Yorkshire Combined Authority supported projects, including West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (Transport Fund) and Local Growth Fund, for
consideration by the Investment Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the
Combined Authority’s assurance process.

The Investment Committee has delegated decision making authority, this was
approved by the Combined Authority on 13 December 2018. Where
Investment Committee is asked to make an approval decision this will be
highlighted in the summary table and made clear in the recommendations.

This report presents proposals for the progression of 4 schemes through the
Combined Authority’s assurance process in line with the Leeds City Region
Assurance Framework. These schemes have a total combined funding value
of £42.255 million when fully approved, of which the total value of £36.328
million will be funded by the Combined Authority. Further details on the
schemes are summarised below and can be found as part of this report.

Scheme Scheme description

Kirklees Cycling and This scheme will be majority funded from the Combined
Walking Early Gateway | Authority’s successful bid to the Department for Transport
Transformation Transforming Cities (small schemes) Fund. The scheme will
Package deliver a package of walking and cycling enhancements that
Kirklees will improve walking and cycling to and from Dewsbury and

Huddersfield railway stations, as well as Huddersfield Bus
Station.

It supports Priority Area 4 (Infrastructure for Growth) and will be
funded by the Department for Transport’s Transforming Cities
Fund and Kirklees Council.

Impact




The scheme will lead to increased cycling and walking to/from
both railway stations, with associated health and environmental
benefits. It will improve connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists
travelling between Huddersfield railway and bus stations and
provide improvements at Dewsbury railway station to make it
easier for public transport users to access the railway network.
The scheme will also improve access to education facilities
from key public transport hubs (Kirklees College, Greenhead
College, University of Huddersfield)

The benefit cost ratio (BCR) of the scheme represents high
value for money as per the Department for Transport’s criteria.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 2 (case paper) and
work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs)

Total value - £2.2 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £1.895 million
Funding recommendation sought — £337,000

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.

Scheme

Ultra-Low Emission
Bus (ULEB)

Leeds

Scheme description

The scheme will enable seven zero-emission electric double
deck buses to operate between the proposed Stourton Park
and Ride (P&R) site into Leeds City Centre, supported by two
new rapid charging units at Leeds bus station.

It supports the SEP Priority 3 “Clean Energy and Environmental
Resilience”
Impact

The scheme has the potential to offer very good value for
money and deliver a range of benefits including the reduction of
harmful carbon dioxide (CO;) and nitrous oxide (NO,)
emissions, helping to address localised poor air quality along a
key arterial route into Leeds city centre

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 2 and work
commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

Total Value - £2.7 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £1.650 million
Funding recommendation sought - £0 million

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.

Scheme
A629 Phase 4
Calderdale

Scheme description

This scheme is phase four (of five), of the A629 Corridor
Programme, and seeks to provide infrastructure improvements
for bus users, cyclists and walkers, to enhance and
complement the capacity improvements that will be delivered

10




through phases 1a, 1b, 2 and 5, but also Halifax Station
Gateway and Huddersfield town centre schemes.

The scheme is to be funded through the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund.

Impact

When assessed against the Department for Transport’s value
for money criteria, the benefit cost ratio for the A629
programme as a whole of between 1.9:1 to 2.1:1. The scheme
demonstrates beneficial, strategic drivers for investment. The
proposal seeks to address connectivity barriers for public
transport, with enhancements to the bus network, and for
walking and cycling mode users with improvements to active
mode travel infrastructure. The proposal supports reducing
road traffic congestion levels and improving connectivity.

It will also support delivery of wider social benefits of improving
public health and quality of life through delivering better
connectivity to jobs and education via public transport, reducing
journey times, encouraging active travel, and reducing carbon
emissions.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 full business case.

Total value - £25.928 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £25.928 million
Funding recommendation sought - £7.085 million

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.

Scheme

Harrogate Road - New
Line Junction
Improvement

Bradford

Scheme description

The Harrogate Road — New Line junction scheme sits within
the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund programme.

The scheme will improve the existing junction at Greengates
including widening of the existing highway on all four arms of
the junction, signal upgrades, junction improvements and
improvements for pedestrians and cyclists.

This scheme is majority funded (59%) by the West Yorkshire
Plus Transport Fund, which is targeted at enabling key
development areas and will help create around 20,000 new
jobs over the next 10 years. It is also match-funded by Bradford
Council (24%) and Section 106 (17%) funding.

Impact

The scheme currently presents a benefit cost ratio of 10.7:1
which is categorised as very high value for money based on the
Department for Transport’s criteria.

The project’s wider benefits encompass enhanced facilities for
pedestrians and cyclists, a reduction in the number and/or
severity of accidents and improvements to air quality.
Moreover, the scheme enhances quality of life through
improved access to hubs such as Bradford city centre and
Leeds Bradford Airport.

11




1.4

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 4 (full business
case) and commence work on decision point 5 (full business
case with finalised costs).

Total value - £11.427 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £6.765 million

Funding recommendation sought - £0 (approval of £2.875
million development costs secured through a previous change
request)

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated
authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this
report.

This report also presents recommendations for the following 3 schemes that
have had change requests assessed in line with the Combined Authority’s
assurance process. These schemes have a funding value of £41.824 million
when fully approved, of which £20.282 million will be funded by the Combined
Authority. Further details on the schemes are summarised below and can be
found as part of this report.

Scheme
Halifax Station Gateway
Calderdale

Scheme description

This scheme is part of the wider Station Gateways programme
to transform public realm, expand retail opportunities and
improve passenger experiences. This scheme aims to
construct a new station building that links to the current Grade
I listed building, bring a disused platform back in to use, and
relocate the car parking. The land in front of the station will also
be redeveloped to enable walking and cycling access from the
station in to the town centre.

This scheme is to be part funded from the West Yorkshire plus
Transport fund.

Impact

The scheme’s wider social benefits include improved public
health and quality of life through delivering better connectivity,
encouraging active travel and reducing carbon emissions.

Decision sought

Approval to provide an additional £247,336 of development
funds taking the total approval to £1.335 million.

Total value — £28.2 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding — £10.6 million
Funding recommendation sought - £247,336

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated
authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this
report.

Scheme

Scheme description

12




York Outer Ring Road
Junctions Improvement
Programme - Phase 1

York

The York Outer Ring Road (YORR) scheme has been
developed to both address existing issues and support the
delivery of the future development set out in the York Local
Plan The scheme will deliver the short-term improvements to
the YORR, consistent with City of York policy, York Local Plan
Strategic Highway Capacity Improvements and the York Local
Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan which include reference to the
short and long-term improvements needed to enhance capacity
of the YORR.

The YORR upgrade project includes improvements to seven
existing outer ring road roundabouts between the Wetherby
Road and Monks Cross junctions. Phase 1 has already
delivered improvements to the roundabout at the junction of
A1237 and B1224 Wetherby Road. The works at the Wetherby
Road junction were completed in the winter of 2018/19.

Impact

The scheme will contribute to reduced congestion and journey
times and provide wider benefits in the form of reducing
accidents and improving local air quality.

Decision sought

Activity 6 change request for additional funding required to fund
the cost of addressing multiple issues occurring at a greater
level than anticipated, for the scheme (including tree root
penetration affecting groundwater management and
archaeological discovery).

To increase total scheme cost approval from £3.599 million to
£4.054 million (an increase of £455,000) of which the
Combined Authority funding contribution to the increased cost
is £266,581.

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated
authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this
report.

Scheme

Clean Bus Technology
Fund

West Yorkshire

Scheme description

The scheme seeks to deliver clean technology to bus fleets
across West Yorkshire, to improve emission levels up to Euro 6
standard or better, as required by the forthcoming Leeds Clean
Air Charging Zone.

The scheme is primarily funded by the Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), with
contribution from the Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme (LPTIP) and bus operator match fund.

Impact

The economic assessment of the scheme demonstrates
significant air quality benefits, with delivery of up to 479 clean
bus technology upgrades to yield an estimated 560 tonne
yearly reduction in nitrogen oxide (NOz) and 179 tonne yearly
reduction in carbon dioxide (COz2), calculating environmental
and health savings of c. £37.2 million over a five year
operational period.

The wider social benefit of scheme delivery is improvement to
health and quality of life due to cleaner air.

13




Decision sought
Approval of the change request at activity 6 delivery.

Total value - £9.570 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £8.036 million
(DEFRA grant)

Funding recommendation sought - £3.482 million

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.

Since the Investment Committee’s meeting on 11 June 2019, the following
decision points and change requests have been assessed in line with the
Combined Authority’s assurance process and approved through the agreed
delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director. Under the
delegation a total expenditure of £1.429 million has been approved.

Scheme Scheme description

Investment Readiness To support the growth of SMEs across Leeds City Region by
Support Programme providing them with an impartial and confidential advice service
on how to prepare for, and access, the full range of finance
options available to them.

Impact

The project will support at least 300 small and medium-sized
enterprises (SMEs) across the City Region to grow, become
productive and provide better quality jobs by supporting them to
attract the right amount and type of external investment. It will
also directly create at least 50 jobs in the SMEs supported, and
facilitate significantly more employment creation indirectly by
enabling firms to attract investment and then grow as a result. It
is estimated that this could create up to an additional 1,000
new jobs over the future years.

Leeds

Decision sought

To proceed through decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs) and proceed into activity 6 (delivery).

This scheme will support the growth of SMEs across Leeds City Region by
providing them with an impartial and confidential advice service on how to
prepare for, and access, the full range of finance options available to them.
This will include finance products and services delivered by the private and
public sectors, including the LEP’s grants and loans, the Northern Powerhouse
Investment Fund, Start-Up Loans, Research and Development Tax Credits,
Innovate UK, mainstream commercial finance and new technology-led options,
such as crowdfunding, factoring and bitcoin.

The scheme received decision point 2 (case paper approval) from the
Combined Authority on 13 December 2018. The scheme received decision
point 5 approval (full business case with finalised costs) through delegation to
the Combined Authority’s Managing Director on the 14 June 2019 and will now
proceed into activity 6 (delivery). This approved the total project cost of £1.429
million, and the Combined Authority contribution of £714,500 (which will be

14




2.2

funded through the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool). The remaining
contribution £714,500 will be funded by European Regional Development
Funding (ERDF).

Information

The background information on the Combined Authority’s assurance
framework through which each of the schemes outlined in this report are being
approved is provided in Appendix 1. In addition, this appendix also provides a
description of the approach for the future assurance approval pathway and the
assurance tolerances for each scheme.

Programmes and projects for consideration

Projects in stage 1: Eligibility

Stage 1: Eligibility

Activity 1 Activity 2

Projects at the eligibility stage are seeking entry into the portfolio and should
demonstrate a strategic fit in terms of project outcomes, with further project
definition including costs and detailed timescales to be developed as the
project progresses through the assurance process. At this stage funding may
be sought to enable this work to progress.

Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway
Transformation Package

Project Title

Stage 1 (Eligibility)

DETEERHE LA 2 (Case paper)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? [ Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

15




2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

29

2.10

Background

This scheme will be majority funded mainly through the Department for
Transport’s Transforming Cities Fund (TCF). As part of the Government’s
Industrial Strategy and the National Productivity Investment Fund, the TCF
aims to drive up productivity through improved connections between urban
centres and suburbs.

To do this, the TCF provides a significant opportunity to invest in infrastructure
to improve public and sustainable transport connectivity in some of England’s
largest cities. This scheme will be funded through Tranche 1 of the fund, which
is focused on “small bids” of £10 million or less. Combined Authority bids
relating to Tranche 2 are currently under development with a decision from the
Department for Transport anticipated in spring 2020. The Combined Authority
has been successful in securing the funding for the scheme which is described
below, and are now required to assure the development and delivery of the
scheme by Kirklees Council through the assurance process.

The Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation Package
scheme will deliver a package of walking and cycling enhancements that will
much improve walking and cycling connectivity to and from Dewsbury and
Huddersfield railway stations, as well as Huddersfield bus station and adjacent
development sites.

At Huddersfield railway station, improvements will focus on the walking and
cycling route between the rail and bus stations, including additional and
improved crossings, way-marking and associated safety enhancements.
Advance works on St George’s Street are proposed (footway widening, two-
way cycle facilities, revised signage etc.) in order to align with planned
maintenance improvements and avoid re-doing works in this area in the short-
term.

At Dewsbury railway station, walking and cycling enhancements at the
western entrance will improve accessibility together with further enhancements
within the station itself to create a more accessible and attractive environment
for pedestrians and cyclists.

The scheme has been presented at decision point 2, as a strategic outline
business case (rather than an expression of interest) to reflect the business
case which was submitted to the Department for Transport, however it has
been appraised in line with the standard approach at decision point 2 (case

paper).

The scheme supports Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) Priority 4 “Infrastructure
for Growth”, providing sustainable and active travel modes to strengthen and
grow the City Region’s Urban Centres. The scheme will be delivered by
Kirklees Council and TransPennine Express.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 2.

16



2.1

212

213

2.14

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The scheme will deliver benefits to residents, commuters, businesses, visitors,
leisure and retail users travelling through Dewsbury and Huddersfield railway
stations, including:

e Increased use of sustainable travel modes to/from both railway stations,
with associated health and environmental benefits

e Improved connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists travelling between
Huddersfield railway and bus stations

e Improved access to education facilities from key public transport hubs
(Kirklees College, University of Huddersfield)

e Improved facilities for forecast increased passengers

e Accessibility improvements at Dewsbury railway station to make it easier
for vulnerable and disabled users to access the railway network

The benefit cost ratio of the scheme is currently at strategic outline business
case stage is 20.29:1 which represents very high value for money as per the
Department for Transport’s criteria. This will be further developed as the
scheme progresses to full business case stage.

Risks

The key design and delivery risks to the scheme and associated mitigation
measures are:

e Objections to scheme design from local businesses and bus operators —
mitigated through further detailed and ongoing consultation and
stakeholder engagement and the demonstration of scheme benefits from
further business case development.

e Programme delays lead to the withdrawal of TCF funds — mitigated by
securing contractual commitment in October 2019

e Wasted costs associated with planned maintenance of St George’s Street
(Huddersfield) in advance of the anticipated Transforming Cities Fund
improvement and loss of match funding — mitigated by early release of
Transforming Cities Fund funds to complete advance works in this area.

Costs

The total forecast cost of the scheme is £2.2 million. The Combined Authority
contribution is £1.895 million funded by the Transforming Cities Fund. The
remaining £305,000 will be funded by Kirklees Council (£200,000) and the
TransPennine Express Customer & Community Investment Fund (£105,000).
All funding is secured.

17



2.15

2.16

Kirklees Council is seeking development costs of £187,000 for detailed
designs and consultation and the preparation of the full business case with
finalised costs. The Council is also seeking £150,000 of scheme delivery
funding (in advance of the decision point 5, full business case with finalised
costs) to undertake improvement works to St George’s Street. This is to take
advantage of available match funding from the Council’s highways
maintenance budget which must be spent in 2019/20 in order to avoid
repeating improvement works to this element of the scheme when the
Combined Authority release the TCF funding (subject to decision point 5
approval).

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast
approval date

Decision point 2 (case Recommendation: Investment Committee 01/08/2019
paper) Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 5 (full Recommendation: Combined Authority's 16/10/2019
business case with Programme Appraisal Team

finalised costs) Decision: Combined Authority's Managing

Director

Other Key Timescales

The key milestones for the scheme are:

e Consultation and detailed designs completed — September 2019
e Full business case with finalised costs submitted — October 2019

e Start of construction — October 2019 (St George’s St), November 2019
(main scheme)

e Practical completion (decision point 6) — November 2020

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

That the scheme costs remain within plus 10% of the costs identified in this report

That the project delivery timescale remains within plus four months of the timescale set out
in this report.

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Richard Hollinson, Kirklees Council

Project Manager Robert Stanley, Kirklees Council

18



217

2.18

Combined Authority case officer lan McNichol

Appraisal summary

The scheme has a strong strategic case and responds to increasing rail
patronage and predicted growth set out in the West Yorkshire Transport
Strategy. It has the potential to generate significant economic benefits and
these will be further refined at the next stage of the assurance pathway. The
Department for Transport’s TCF funding is secured and the overall approach
to project governance and delivery appears to be robust.

Recommendations
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation
Package proceeds through decision point 2 (case paper) and work
commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(i)  An indicative approval is given to the Combined Authority’s contribution
of £1.895 million, which will be funded through the Transforming Cities
Fund, with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has
progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full
business case with finalised costs). The total project value is £2.2 million.

(iii) Development costs of £337,000 are approved (including £150,000 for
advanced construction works on the Huddersfield element) in order to
progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

19



219

2.20

2.21

Project Title Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB)

Stage 1 (Eligibility)

DETEERNEILIAE 2 (Case paper)

Is this a key decision? Yes U No
Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes 1 No
Does th_e report contain confidential or exempt information or O Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme forms part of the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme,
a £183.5 million programme using devolved Department for Transport (DfT)
funding supplemented with contributions from Leeds City Council and the
Combined Authority. This programme aims to support economic growth by
removing barriers to travel, improve public transport journey times and usage
and improve health outcomes by reducing overall transport emissions. The
scheme is included within the Bus Delivery package within the Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme.

The Combined Authority is responsible for selecting an operator for the
proposed Stourton Park and Ride service and through this process it will
provide a grant (as per the requirements of the DfT’s criteria for the ULEB
funding) to enable the selected Park and Ride operator to procure a fleet of
ultra-low emissions buses (ULEB) (over Euro 6 standard buses). The
Combined Authority will be responsible for procuring the rapid charging units
at Leeds bus station whilst the charging units at the proposed Stourton Park
and Ride site will be delivered by Leeds City Council and are part of the
business case for that scheme.

This scheme supports the SEP Priority Area 3 “Clean Energy and
Environmental Resilience” with a forecast reduction of 617 tonnes of carbon
dioxide (CO,) emissions within the first five years of operation. It also supports
the ambitions of the Combined Authority’s emerging Clean Energy Strategy to
become a resilient zero carbon energy economy by 2036. This prioritises
efficient and integrated transport through the deployment of cleaner transport
technologies, including Investment in zero-emission, low carbon bus
technology.

2.22 A summary of the scheme’s business case is included in Appendix 3.

20




2.23

2.24

2.25

2.26

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The scheme will facilitate the delivery of at least five ultra-low emission double
deck buses and associated charging infrastructure and has the potential to
generate the following benefits:

e Removal of 617 tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO,), over five years when
compared to a fleet of seven Euro 6 standard buses

e Removal of 344kg of nitrogen dioxide (NO,) and 6kg of particle matter
(PM) over five years when compared to Euro 6 standard buses

e Support proposals for the Leeds Clean Air Zone by addressing localised
NO, exceedances along the Stourton Park and Ride route into Leeds city
centre

e Complement plans led by Leeds City Council to deliver a solar
photovoltaic (PV) canopy and associated energy storage/charging facility
at the Stourton Park and Ride site

e Support the wider uptake of electric buses by service operators by
providing rapid recharging infrastructure at Leeds bus station

The scheme has the potential to offer very good value for money and by
comparison the Combined Authority’s Clean Bus Technology Fund is forecast
to achieve a benefit cost ratio of over 7:1. The scheme will build on the Clean
Bus Technology Fund investment, which is in the process of retrofitting over
500 vehicles to Euro 6 standard.

Risks
The key risks and associated mitigation measures for this scheme are:

e Lack of interest/support from prospective Park and Ride operators —
mitigated by early engagement with potential operators and ULEB vehicle
suppliers (a requirement for ULEB vehicles will be included in the tender
specification for the Park and Ride operator)

e Increase in rapid charging point delivery costs — mitigated by further
survey work and a risk contingency in the scheme cost plan

e ULEB vehicles not achieving the required range for the daily P&R duty
cycle — one of the fleet will act as a spare to ensure service
availability/reliability

Costs

The total forecast cost for this scheme is £2.7 million. The Combined Authority
contribution is £1.650 million funded by the Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme (£1.033 million) and the DfT’s Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB)
scheme (£617,000). All public sector funding is secured. This will be provided

21



2.27

2.28

as a grant to the selected operator, to subsidise the cost of the required
technology.

A commitment for the Park and Ride operator to match fund the scheme costs
will be secured through the procurement process. It is anticipated that this will
secure private sector investment up to £1.05 million in the purchase of the
fleet, the equivalent of purchasing 7 Euro 6 standard buses (the exact figure
will depend on the outcome of the procurement).

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast
approval date

Decision point 2 (case Recommendation: Investment Committee 01/08/2019
paper) Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 5 (full Recommendation: Combined Authority's 31/01/2020
business case with Programme Appraisal Team

finalised costs) Decision: Combined Authority's Managing

Director

Other Key Timescales

The key milestones for this scheme are:

e OJEU tender issue for the Stourton Park and Ride operator - August 2019
e Park and Ride operator appointed - October 2019

e Rapid charge units at Leeds bus station go ‘live’ — August 2020

e ULEB fleet delivered — October 2020

e Park and ride service commences — December 2020 (in line with the
forecast opening of the proposed Stourton Park and Ride)

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

Combined Authority costs should remain within plus 20% of the costs set out in this report.

That programme timescales should remain within plus three months of the timescales set out
in this report.

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Dave Pearson, Combined Authority

Project Manager Helen Ellerton, Combined Authority

22



2.29

Combined Authority case officer lan McNichol

Appraisal summary

The scheme has a clear strategic, commercial (route to market) and economic
case for investment, public sector funding is secured and key scheme risks
are understood. A high level qualitative appraisal of the scheme benefit has
been undertaken at this stage of project development. It is intended that a
more detailed appraisal is undertaken on the full business case which will
provide a quantified value for money forecast (most likely in the form of a
benefit to cost ratio figure).

Recommendations
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i)  The Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB) scheme proceeds through decision
point 2 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

(i)  An indicative approval is given to the Combined Authority’s contribution
of £1.650 million (which will be funded through £1.033 million from Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) and £617,000 from the
DfT ULEB scheme fund), with full approval to spend being granted once
the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision
point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). The total project value of
£2.7 million.

(iii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

23



2.30

2.31

2.32

Projects in Stage 2: Development

Stage 2: Development

Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5

FBC with
Finalised
(2] -

Projects at this development stage should demonstrate that they have tested
the feasibility of a solution through their business case. This business case
should then be developed in order to confirm and detail the preferred solution
including finalising its cost.

Project Title A629 Phase 4

Stage 2 (Development)

DETEERHE I 3 (Outline business case)

Is this a key decision? Yes U No
Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No
Does th_e report contain confidential or exempt information or O Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. This
is a £1 billion fund, covering West Yorkshire and York. The objectives of the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund are to enable key employment and
housing development areas and will help to create about 20,000 new jobs over
the next 10 years. These strategic transport projects will be delivered to
facilitate the growth priorities identified in the Leeds City Region Strategic
Economic plan.

The A629 corridor improvement programme has been jointly developed in
partnership between Calderdale and Kirklees Council to address the highway
network’s strategic accessibility. The programme comprises of increasing
capacity of the A629 route and implementation of operational improvements to
overcome historic pinch points, reduce journey times and deliver improved
reliability. This, together with the introduction of dedicated bus, pedestrian and
cycle infrastructure will deliver a shift to more sustainable travel choices in line
with the programme’s objectives. Delivery of the full corridor strategy will take
a number of years to realise due to the complexity and extent of the proposals.
Therefore, the package along the corridor from Halifax to Huddersfield has
been split into five phases. They are:

24



2.33

2.34

2.35

2.36

2.37

2.38

o Phase 1a — Salterhebble Hill

o Phase 1b — Calder and Hebble Junction
o Phase 2 - Halifax town centre

o Phase 4 - Huddersfield to Halifax

o Phase 5 - Ainley Top to Huddersfield

Phase 4 is a critical element of the overall A629 package and represents the
concluding chapter. It comprehensively links together the earlier phases’
interventions to complete the strategic travel corridor upgrade. This will
improves connectivity between the towns of Huddersfield and Halifax by
providing transport infrastructure which is accessible by different modes. The
key interventions will improve the highway network for general traffic, deliver
bus service enhancements to local routes and enable a new express bus
service, key bus route junction upgrades and provide an end-to-end
cycle/walking route between the two towns meaning better provision for
pedestrians and cyclists between Halifax and Huddersfield.

This scheme supports delivery of Priority 4 ‘Infrastructure for Growth’ of the
Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), by creating additional
capacity to enable development, and helping to achieve the Leeds City Region
SEP principle of ‘Good Growth’.

The scheme was given decision point 2 (case paper) approval by the
Combined Authority in October 2017, with an indicative West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund approval of £30 million, and approval of £645,000 to fund
project development costs to decision point 3 (outline business case).

The A629 phase 4 scheme is now presented at outline business case and
seeks to progress to full business case (decision point 4) with a forecast
scheme cost of £25.928 million. This represents a reduction in cost of £4.072
million, attributed by the promoter to the refinement of the scheme design and
works to deliver the project objectives, and given the £30 million initially
profiled was a high-level estimate at the inception of the transport fund.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 4.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications
The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications are:

o Increase bus patronage by 10% along the corridor five years after
scheme completion.

o Reduce end-to-end local bus journey times between Halifax and
Huddersfield by 15% one-year after scheme completion. Reduce total
journey time by 30% via a new limited stop express service.

25



2.39

Upgrade of end to end bus stop infrastructure, including new shelters and
real time information systems

Provide improved public transport links to support the greater integration
between Calderdale and Kirklees NHS trust Hospitals sites

Local bus services will see pinch point junctions upgraded and a new
direct link into Elland centre.

Creating an end-to-end cycle facility between Halifax and Huddersfield,
addressing challenging and taking cycle routes directly into Huddersfield
and Halifax town centres via dedicated safe passages.

Increase total number of walking and cycling trips along the corridor by
10% one-year after scheme delivery, with segregated routes to increase
safety and make cycling a more attractive mode of travel.

Reduce number of casualties by 10% along the corridor for all users.

Introduction of an end to end Urban Traffic Control System (UTMC)
linking the multiple signal junction installations along the A629 corridor to
reduce congestion for all modes of traffic; The corridor contains 2 AQMA
zones at Ainley Top and Skircoat and the strategy will see improvements
in air quality, together with improved CCTV coverage and Variable
Message Signs to support the corridor environment, efficiency, control
and safety.

Direct transport benefits for the emerging Local Plan and existing local
businesses

A benefit to cost ratio of this phase is 1.1:1, which when judged solely on
the Department for Transport’s value for money criteria is categorised as
low. It forms part of a wider programme which has a stronger VM
position overall (1.9:1 to 2.0:1), particularly Phase 1b which is in excess
of 3:1.The scheme however demonstrates strategically important drivers
for investment, addressing gaps along the A629 corridor not deliverable
through the other phases, such as highway capacity and operational
improvements, as well as delivery of cycling infrastructure and
enhancements to the bus network. The proposal also sets out to address
severance issues, to improve accessibility to Halifax and Huddersfield,
facilitating local development and job creation.

Opportunity is the potential for this phase to generate a significant shift in
modal choice

The wider social benefits therefore of the scheme include improving
public health through encouraging active cycling and walking travel with
enhancements to the pedestrian and cycling provision, and improving
quality of life through providing better connectivity to jobs and education.

Risks

The key risks to the project and the related mitigation are:

Land acquisition - failure to acquire land through negotiation. Parcels of
third party land are required for scheme delivery, which if cannot be

26



purchased through negotiation, Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) will
be launched during full business case development (activity 4) with the
risk the CPO process could delay scheme delivery by up to 18 months.
Early engagement with land owners to be undertaken following decision
point 3 approval. Approval is sought as part of this report for agreement
to the scheme land costs so that the promoter is able to acquire land
during the next stage of project development at the most appropriate
opportunity.

Land acquisition - paying over the market value to obtain essential land
via negotiation. The risk allowance within the scheme budget has
considered land value costs and allowance for contaminated land,
totalling £2.960 million (inclusive of land owner compensation and
accommodation works). Calderdale Council has an experienced land
surveyor solely to deal with West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund land
acquisitions already in post to support land acquisition activities and
ensure value for money.

Planning - objections to planning application. A robust scheme design
and planning application will be submitted during Activity 4, with further
engagement and consultation with key stakeholders and members of the
public to be held. This will invite feedback to mitigate against objections
that could result in requirement for scheme redesign, delaying delivery
and increasing costs.

Costs

2.40 The project costs can be summarised as:

The current total cost forecast for the scheme at decision point 3 is
£25.928 million. The Combined Authority will fund the full scheme costs
from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund as part of the A629
programme.

At decision point 2 (case paper) £645,000 was approved to fund project
development to outline business case (decision point 3).

The scheme now seeks a further £6.44 million funding at outline
business case (decision point 3). This will fund:

o Project development costs of up to £3.94 million to decision point 5
(full business case with finalised costs)

o Land acquisition costs of up to £2.5 million to be undertaken in
advance of full business case with finalised costs (decision point 5).
It is proposed that approval to these costs is sought as part of this
report (and included in the funding agreement), but approval to
claim for individual land parcels is delegated to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director when confirmed land costs are
known.

This takes the total expenditure sought for approval to £7.085 million, of
which £4.585 million is to be spent on business case development costs
(i.e. excludes land acquisition costs). This represents 17% of total

27



scheme costs, which is within acceptable parameters for these type of

schemes.

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

(delivery)

Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Director of
Delivery

Decision point 3 (outline Recommendation: Investment Committee 01/08/2019
business case) Decision: Combined Authority
Decision point 4 (full Recommendation: Combined Authority's 08/12/2022
business case) Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing

Director
Decision point 5 (full Recommendation: Combined Authority's 03/08/2023
business case with Programme Appraisal Team
finalised costs) Decision: Combined Authority's Managing

Director
Decision point 6 Recommendation: Combined Authority's 01/05/2025

Other Key Timescales

. Construction commences - Summer 2023

o Construction complete - Summer 2025

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

in this report.

Combined Authority costs should remain within plus 10% of the costs set out in this report.

That programme timescales should remain within plus three months of the timescales set out

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer

Mark Thompson, Calderdale Council

Project Manager

Richard Binks, Calderdale Council

Combined Authority case officer Asif Abed

Appraisal summary

28




2.41

242

2.43

2.44

2.45

The outline business case provides an appropriate level of detail on the key
deliverables of the A629 phase 4 scheme and the strategic drivers behind the
proposed interventions, demonstrating its support to the A629 programme and
the wider, local and national transport policies and objectives.

Scheme costs have been adequately presented in the financial case with a
satisfactory level of detail provided to support the total forecast scheme costs
and the additional funding sought to progress to full business case with costs
(decision point 5), including land acquisition costs. The promoter has also
established that the phase 4 scheme is currently affordable within the A629
programme, funded by the Transport Fund.

The commercial case does raise a deliverability risk, with the acquisition of
parcels of third party land potentially requiring a Compulsory Purchase Order
(CPO). The promoter has indicated landowner engagement is to commence
following approval of the outline business case, with the risk of CPO recorded
in the risk register.

The value for money assessment for this scheme at outline business case
reflects a benefit cost ratio of 1.1:1, but is supported by a higher programme
level benefit cost ratio. Further work is to be undertaken by the promoter at full
business case to refine the economic case and emphasise the strategic
benefits the scheme is forecast to deliver. This will also include a
demonstration of the A629 programme value for money position and the
benefits to be realised at a programme level.

Recommendations
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The A629 Phase 4, scheme proceeds through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(i)  An indicative approval to the total project value of £25.928 million is given
from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iif) Additional development costs of £3.94 million are approved in order to
progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs) taking the total project development cost approval to £4.585
million.

(iv) That to fund land acquisition costs of up to £2.5 million is approved, with
final approval to claim against this approval delegated to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director when finalised costs are known.

(v) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing Funding
Agreement with Calderdale Council for expenditure of up to £7.085
million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

29



(vi) Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 and 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal
Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances

outlined in this report.

30



Project Title Harrogate Road - New Line Junction Improvement

Stage 2 (Development)

DT NE I IE 4 (Full business case)

Is this a key decision? Yes U No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes 1 No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? Ll Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

2.46 The Harrogate Road — New Line scheme sits within the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund programme.

2.47 The scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. This
is a £1 billion fund, covering West Yorkshire and York. The objectives of the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund are to enable key employment and
housing development areas and will help to create about 20,000 new jobs over
the next 10 years. These strategic transport projects will be delivered to
facilitate the growth priorities identified in the Leeds City Region Strategic
Economic Plan.

2.48 The Harrogate Road — New Line scheme involves major civil engineering
works including:
J Widening of the existing highway on all four arms of the junction.
o Replacement and upgrading of the junction traffic signals.
o Junction restructure and improvements

o Improvements to facilities for pedestrians including the provision of
pedestrian controlled crossings and central pedestrian islands.

o Improvements to facilities for cyclists including the introduction of cycle
lanes and advance stop lines at traffic signals.

o Creation of a new access to the supermarket.

o Demolition and reconstruction on new retaining wall adjacent to the
AB57.

o Closure of existing store highway access and construction of a new
access.

o Accommodation works to affected land and properties.

31



2.49

2.50

2.51

2.52

2.53

o New and replacement planting and landscaping in multiple locations.
o Road lighting improvements.
o Relocation of five bus stops.

o Significant diversions of utilities companies’ plant and services.

The scheme supports the SEP priority 4 — Infrastructure for Growth with a
particular emphasis on transport infrastructure and services. Harrogate Road —
New Line will also complement the key area of integrated spatial priority areas
through longer term impacts.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 5.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications
The following objectives were derived from the business case:

J Relieving congestion by reducing the journey times by 20% in the
morning peak and 31% in the evening peak respectively by 2026.

o Making it easier for people to walk and cycle through the provision of
dedicated facilities at the junction increasing footfall by 15% in the
operational year.

o A 10% reduction in nitrogen dioxide concentration levels in the
operational year and achieving legal compliance objective (of 40ug/m3).

o Supports the creation of new housing developments in the area through
releasing transport constraints.

o Improved access to Leeds Bradford Airport and the new rail station at
Apperley Bridge by increasing junction throughout by 12% and 18% in
the morning and evening peak by 2026.

o Improved green infrastructure in line with the Green Infrastructure Task
Group.

Risks

A main risk for this scheme is that the compensation for land exceeds the
allowance from the scheme budget. The mitigation measure has been in place
for the entirety of full business case development and will continue through
until delivery. This is the employment of land and property legal expertise
within the team at Bradford Council.

Another main risk is that the utility companies will not perform as required in
terms of both utilities diversions and contractor performance, or the location
and condition may differ from what is expected. The mitigation measure here
is to continue to liaise with utility companies with a view to embedding their
requirements along with existing information into the tender requirements. This
will be an ongoing process and will form a key part of delivery.

32



Costs

2.54 The total forecast scheme cost is £11.427 million, of which £6.765 million will
be funded by the Combined Authority from the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund. The remainder of scheme costs (£4.662 million) will be funded by
Bradford Council (£2.736 million) and Section 106 funding (£1.926 million).

2.55 A change request was approved by delegated decision to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director on 25 January 2019. This approved £990,000 of
additional development and land acquisition costs to take the total project
approval to £2.875 million. No further development costs are required at this
stage of scheme development.

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast
approval date
Decision point 4 (full Recommendation: Combined Authority's 11/07/2019
business case) Programme Appraisal Team
Decision: Investment Committee
Decision point 5 (full Recommendation: Combined Authority's 20/12/2019
business case with Programme Appraisal Team
finalised costs) Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
Decision point 6 Recommendation: Combined Authority's 01/06/2021
(delivery) Programme Appraisal Team
Decision: Combined Authority's Director of
Delivery
Decision point 7 (review Recommendation: Combined Authority's 01/07/2026
and close) Programme Appraisal Team
Decision: Combined Authority's Director of
Delivery
Other Key Timescales
2.56 Key milestone dates:
o Start on site — February 2020
o Finish on site — June 2021
Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
Cost Scheme costs to remain within plus 5% of costs set out in this report.
Programme Programme to remain within plus 3 months of that set out in this report.

33




2.57

2.58

2.59

2.60

2.61

2.62

2.63

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Julian Jackson, Bradford Council
Project Manager Ben McCormac, Bradford Council
Combined Authority case officer Tim Fawcett

Appraisal summary

The strategic case for this scheme provides the explanation behind the drivers
and addresses the current situation of poor air quality, heavy congestion and
restricted pedestrians and cyclists. The scheme fits into the local, regional and
national policy objectives and justifies the need for investment, which is
reinforced by thorough consultation and engagement.

The junction improvement scheme’s case for change is clearly demonstrated
with heavy congestion in a key area for the regional network. The procurement
strategy is addressed through a programme and a decision of the type of
contract for the build stage, and experience of take-up from other local
schemes.

The approach used to determine the scheme’s value for money was agreed
between the Combined Authority and Bradford Council. Although further work
is still required around the traffic modelling the scheme is currently in a
position of having a very high value for money benefit-cost ratio (10.7:1). This
will be confirmed at the next decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

The financial case for this scheme is clear and coherent, with clear costs and
cash flow. It is also backed up with two elements of (public and private sector)
match funding.

The management case is sufficient for this stage of the assurance process,
with a well thought out monitoring and evaluation plan and programme. The
communications plan and benefits realisation plan is to be developed going
forward.

The business case provides the rationale for investment in this area, as not
only will it benefit the district of Bradford but the entirety of the Key Route
Network.

Recommendations
The Investment Committee approves that:

(i) The Harrogate Road / New Line project proceeds through decision point
4 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(i)  An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £6.765
million (which will be funded through the West Yorkshire Plus Transport

34



(iif)

Fund) is given with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme
has progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full
business case with finalised costs). The total project value is £11.427
million.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

35



2.64

2.65

2.66

2.67

2.68

Project Title Halifax Station Gateway

Stage 2 (Development)

GRS IEE Change request (activity 3)

Is this a key decision? U Yes U No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes 1 No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? Ll Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme forms part of the Station Gateways Programme which aims to
transform the public realm, improve way finding, expand retail opportunities
and improve passenger experience. It also links with other schemes within the
Calderdale area such as the A629 programme which aims to improve
connectivity between Halifax and Huddersfield.

This scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. This
is a £1 billion fund, covering West Yorkshire and York. The objectives of the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund are to enable key employment and
housing development areas and will help to create about 20,000 new jobs over
the next 10 years. These strategic transport projects will be delivered to
facilitate the growth priorities identified in the Leeds City Region Strategic
Economic Plan.

The scheme aims to deliver a transformational redevelopment of Halifax Rail
Station and pedestrian and cycling access to Halifax town centre by
constructing a new station building that is connected to the current Grade Il
listed building, reintroduce a disused platform back in to operation and create
a step free east-west access link for pedestrians and cyclists underneath the
railway. This scheme aims to transform the transport system making it easier
for people to access the rail station and town centre and encourage an
increase in the number of journeys made by sustainable modes.

This scheme will also transform the land in front of the station to provide a step
free access between Halifax town centre and the rail station. The car parking
for the rail station along with the pick-up and drop-off areas will also be
relocated.

The Halifax Station Gateway project was given mandate approval by the

Combined Authority in 2016 (equivalent to decision point 2 on the current
assurance process) which included development costs of £315,000. An

36



2.69

2.70

2.71

additional £793,000 of development costs was approved by the Combined
Authority in August 2018 to undertake additional feasibility works and produce
a comprehensive outline business case and progress the scheme to decision
point 3. This took the total expenditure approval to £1.108 million. As part of
the previous change request it was highlighted that forecast scheme costs
relating to the identified preferred option for the scheme were £28.2 million, of
which £10.6 million were to be funded by the Combined Authority from the
allocation within the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund and that a funding
strategy would be developed as part of the Outline Business Case to
demonstrate the scheme’s affordability.

Description of Change Request

Calderdale Council have commissioned a new design contract to carry out the
further project development work which was approved as part of last year’s
change request. Following a competitive tender process the returned costs are
not affordable within the current approved development costs and as a result
further funding is required to progress the scheme. In addition, some essential
project development activities (such as environmental impact assessments
and ground investigations) have also been identified to be undertaken at an
earlier date to mitigate against the risk of further project being delays.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The scheme aligns to the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)
strategic priorities by improving connectivity in Calderdale and within the wider
Leeds City Region.

The following objectives, outputs and outcomes will be evaluated as the
scheme progresses through the assurance process. More detail will be
provided in the outline business case which will determine the preferred option
against these criteria.

¢ Increase the number of jobs and income per capita within Halifax above
baseline trends, within five years of project completion

e Increase the number and proportion of journeys to Halifax by rail in
excess of industry forecast within five years of project completion

¢ Increase the level of investment by existing employers within Halifax
above current levels within five years of project completion

¢ Increase the number of visitors to Halifax and the average duration of
their stay against baseline visitor numbers within five years of project
completion

¢ Increase the number of local business start-ups and external

businesses establishing a base in Halifax above the baseline trend
within five years of project completion

37



Risks
2.72 The risks for this scheme are as follows

e The current preferred option for the scheme has a forecast cost of
£28.2 million, and has been identified as insufficient to meet these
costs. The promoter is addressing this by progressing a short list of
scheme options to outline business case stage, which include an option
which is affordable within the secured funding. In addition, the outline
business case will include a funding strategy for each of the short-listed
options. The scheme has a strategic synergy with the Transforming
Cities Fund and connections will be made if feasible.

Costs

2.73 The current total forecast cost of the scheme’s preferred option is £28.2
million. The Combined Authority has allocated £10.6 million from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund towards this scheme and as a result of the
expected benefits of the scheme, Grand Central has provisionally offered a
contribution of £200,000 towards this project. Additional funding options are
being explored.

2.74 This change request asks for an additional £247,336 of development funds,
taking the total of approved development funds to £1.355 million. This
increase in development funds does not increase the overall costs to the
Combined Authority for the project.

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast
approval date

3 (Outline business case) | Recommendation: Investment Committee 12/12/2019

Decision: Combined Authority

4 (Full business case) Recommendation: Combined Authority's 31/03/2020
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

5 (Full business case with | Recommendation: Combined Authority's 31/03/2021
finalised costs) Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

Combined Authority costs should remain within 10% of the costs set out in this report

38



2.75

2.76

2.77

The programme timescales should remain within six months of the timescales set out in this
report

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Mark Thompson, Calderdale Council
Project Manager Sarah Callaghan, Calderdale Council
Combined Authority case officer Heather Briggs

Appraisal summary

This project aims to transform Halifax Rail Station by constructing a new
station building, improving platform capacity and re-developing land in front of
the station for improved pedestrian and cycle facilities.

This is a complex project that requires a significant amount of development
funding in order for the scheme to be developed as effectively and efficiently
as possible.

Recommendations

That Investment Committee approves that:

(i)

(if)
(iif)

(iv)

The change request to the Halifax Station Gateway project to provide
£247,336 of additional development funds is approved.

The timeframe extension outlined in this report is approved.

The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing funding
agreement with Calderdale Council for additional expenditure of
£247,336 taking the total approval up to £1.355 million from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5 through
a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal
Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances
outlined in this report.

39




Projects in Stage 3: Delivery and Evaluation

2.78

2.79

2.80

2.81

Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 6 Activity 7
Close &
° Review o

/

Once in Delivery and Evaluation the scheme is delivered and Combined
Authority funding is drawn down. When delivery is completed a review is
carried out to ensure that the scheme has met all its requirements and outputs
in accordance with its Funding Agreement. Finally information about a
scheme’s performance following its completion is collected, in order to
evaluate the success of the scheme.

York Outer Ring Road Junctions Improvement
Programme — Phase 1

Project Title

Stage 3 (Delivery and Evaluation)

LRI Change request (activity 6)

Is this a key decision? Yes 1 No
Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes LI No
Does th.e report contain confidential or exempt information or [ Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

The A1237 York Outer Ring Road (YORR) has been the subject of a
comprehensive and long-term strategy to review and develop junction
improvements at identified roundabouts along the route to improve and reduce
journey times on this heavily congested route.

The YORR upgrade project includes improvements to seven existing outer
ring road roundabouts between Wetherby Road and Monk Cross junctions.
The aim is to, where possible, upgrade junctions to a similar standard as the
recently enhanced A19 and A59 roundabouts: i.e. approaches widened to
three lanes, exits widened to two lanes, minor approaches widened to suit
traffic flows, provision of walking and cycling improvements (including
accommodating future Ring Road and radial routes where possible).

Phase 1 of the programme has delivered improvements to the roundabout at
the junction of A1237 and B1224 Wetherby Road. The measures implemented
at this roundabout include the A1237 approaches widened to three lanes;

40



2.82

2.83

2.84

2.85

A1237 exits widened to two lanes; the diameter of the roundabout enlarged
and enhanced provision of cycling / pedestrian facilities

Description of Change Request

Additional funding is required to cover the cost of addressing multiple issues
which have occurred coupled with risks encountered at a greater level than
anticipated as part of scheme development. These can be summarised as:

o Tree root penetration (previously identified risk) — requiring excavation
deeper than originally designed.

o Unknown Artesian aquifer (new issue) - There was an unknown artesian
aquifer running directly under the north-west quadrant of the roundabout.
The need for deeper excavations, due to root penetration as noted
above, resulted in contact with the aquifer. This caused flooding of a
portion of the excavations which required unexpected mitigation works.

. Archaeological discovery (previously identified risk) - Unexpectedly
regionally significant find identified.

Each of these issues (with the exception of the Artesian aquifer noted above)
were identified in the scheme risk register. In isolation the project contingency
would have covered a single occurrence. The impact of multiple risks
occurring at a greater level than anticipated when the risk allocation was
identified at decision point 5 has resulted in considerable unforeseen sums
required to manage, mitigate, and overcome the various impacts of these
risks.

The total cost impacts of these changes are £454,000, to which the Combined
Authority is requested to contribute £266,581.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications of the scheme
are:

o Enable better access to employment, retail, health and leisure sites in
York which serve the surrounding population.
o Enhanced connectivity to the A1(M) and other strategic destinations

o Reduced end to end journey times around the northern section of the
York Outer Ring Road by approximately 20% by 2021.

o Enhanced journey time reliability for cross-country journeys (estimated to
be 15-20% of traffic) between origins and destinations in North Yorkshire.

o Reduced localised congestion and delays on approach and exit from the
junctions.

o Removal of through traffic from York city centre due to the decongestion
of the outer ring road route.

Improved safety through the reduction in road accidents.

41



2.86

2.87

2.88

2.89

2.90

o Improved air quality in the city centre resulting from improved traffic
flows.

Risks
The key risks to the project and the related mitigation are:

o That the lessons from the issues are not taken account of in future
phases of the York Outer Ring Road programme in order to minimise
potential future delivery risks. This will be mitigated by a review of the
wider programme to ensure potential future risks are taken into account.

o That site investigations are not extensive enough to identify any possible
hidden or unexpected risks within the programme. This will be mitigated
by ensuring thorough technical expertise is engaged to undertake site
investigations.

o Potential issues on future phases of the programme result in the
quantified risk assessment (QRA) and contingency budget being
expended before the programme is completed. This will be mitigated by
the future risk and contingency being carefully managed for the other
junction improvements to ensure that the programme does not exceed its
budget. Subsequent phases of the programme have the potential to be
reduced in scale and scope to remain within the overall programme
budget.

Costs

The original budget for the scheme was £3.599 million which was to be fully
funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. Scheme costs for phase
1 have increased from £3.599 million to £4.053 million. Additional costs
incurred are £266,581 (£187,496 earthworks issues and £79,085 archaeology
issues) with the City of York Council contributing £188,000 to the scheme (due
to reduction in future maintenance costs).

The scheme costs have increased by £454,581. The Combined Authority is
requested to fund £266,581 of the scheme cost increases and the City of York
Council (CYC) will contribute £188,000 (funding approved by CYC).

It is anticipated that the additional cost to the Combined Authority for this
element can be accommodated within the overall programme cost of £38.926
million.

The programme level risk and contingency budget (risk: £3.030 million and

contingency: £2.740 million) are within the approved overall Combined
Authority budget of £38.276 million at programme level.

42



2.91

2.92

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast
approval date

Change request (activity 6) | Recommendation: Combined Authority's 11/07/2019
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

7 (Review and close) Recommendation: Combined Authority's | 09/01/2020
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Director of
Delivery

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

That the scheme costs remain within the costs within the overall programme budget and costs
identified in this report

That timescales remain within three months of those identified in this report

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer James Gilchrist, City of York Council
Project Manager Gary Frost, City of York Council
Combined Authority case officer Paul Coy

Appraisal summary

The rationale for the change request is clearly set out and the scheme
promoter has provided additional information to substantiate the need for
additional costs. The change is affordable due to the costs remaining within
the overall programme budget and having the option to reduce scale and
scope of future phases of the programme. A recommended condition is for
scheme cost estimates to be revised, showing the re-profiled risk and
contingency budgets for the programme.

Recommendations
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The change request to the YORR Phase 1 (A1237 — B1224 Wetherby
Road Junction upgrade) to approve the additional expenditure for
encountered issues on site during the construction phase is approved.
This is subject to the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team’s
acceptance of revised scheme cost estimates, showing the re-profiled
risk and contingency budgets.

43



(i)  The total cost of Phase 1 of the YORR scheme is increased to £4.054
million from £3.599 million, with the additional costs of £266,581 being
met through the existing programme budget of £38.276 million.

(i) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing funding
agreement with City of York Council for additional total approved
expenditure of up to £266,581 from the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.

44



2.93

2.94

2.95

2.96

2.97

2.98

Project Title Clean Bus Technology Fund

Stage 3 (Delivery and Evaluation)

DGR IEE Change request (activity 6)

Is this a key decision? Yes U No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes 1 No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? Ll Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

The Combined Authority and Leeds City Council secured a combined £4.21
million grant from the Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs
(DEFRA) in November 2017, to deliver clean bus technology to buses across
West Yorkshire.

The clean technology improves bus emission levels up to Euro 6 standard or
better and will apply the standards required by the incoming Leeds Clean Air
Charging Zone across West Yorkshire. The funding is allocated to bus
operators across the region via a competitive bidding process.

The initial scope anticipated delivery of clean technology to approximately
30% of West Yorkshire’s public bus fleet (around 300 vehicles), with an
estimated yearly reduction of 359 tonnes in nitrogen oxide (NO:) and 112
tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO:), representing a forecast £23.8 million of
environmental and health savings.

Due to significant operator interest, in addition to the DEFRA grant, an
additional £850,000 contribution from Leeds City Council through the Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) was secured to expand the
scope and geographical spread of the project outputs and benefits. A further
£1.028 million was put forward as bus operator match contribution as a result.

A total scheme cost of £6.088 million was presented at full business case with
finalised costs (activity 5), with approval by the Managing Director granted in
September 2018, enabling the scheme to progress to activity 6 delivery.

Description of Change Request

In March 2019 DEFRA invited the Combined Authority to bid for up to £3
million of further funding to expand the existing project. Following engagement
with bus operators to assess market demand, it was identified there is strong

45



2.99

2.100

2.101

2.102

2.103

2.104

interest, particularly in Leeds and Bradford given the approaching Clean Air
Charging Zone in Leeds.

The Combined Authority has secured an additional £2.976 million of DEFRA
grant, plus estimates £506,000 of additional bus operator match fund
contribution.

The promoter through the change request has now come forward to seek
approval of an additional £3.482 million in scheme costs.

It is estimated that the additional funding will deliver clean technology to up to
179 additional buses, to yield a further 201 tonne yearly reduction in nitrogen
(NO2) oxide and a further 67 tonne yearly reduction in carbon dioxide (CO.),
estimating additional environmental and health savings of £13.4 million over a
5 year operational period.

It has been assessed that business case implications of approving the change
request to the Combined Authority is minimal. This is because the additional
funding has been provided by DEFRA, with an element of match contribution
to be secured from bus operators, to yield significant additional environmental
benefits to the City Region. The promoter has also established that adequate
project management resource is available to deliver the expanded project.

Given the expanded scope, DEFRA have endorsed an extended delivery
timescale of 31 March 2020 (from September 2019) as proposed by the
promoter based on delivery experience of the current scope. The promoter is
to continue submission of quarterly reporting on outputs to DEFRA, with the
final report now to be submitted by 31 March 2020.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications
They key outputs and benefits of the project are:
o Forecast yearly reduction of 560 tonnes of nitrogen oxide (NO:) over a

five year operational period.

o Forecast yearly reduction of 179 tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO:) over a
five year operational period.

o Forecast environmental and health savings of £37.2 million over a five
year operational period.

o The scheme supports priority area 3 ‘Clean Energy and Environmental
Resilience’ of the Strategic Economic Plan.

o The scheme will deliver wider social benefits of improving health and
quality of life with cleaner air.

Risks
Delivery of the expanded project puts significant timescale pressures on the

supply and delivery of clean technology fitments, with suppliers already
overwhelmed with orders to meet the current scope due to the limited number

46



2.105

2.106

2107

2.108

of accredited providers. DEFRA endorsing the extended delivery timescales to
31 March 2020 does mitigate this risk.

Existing delivery risks of operators failing to agree to grant agreement
conditions, and the standard of performance of the technology remain. These
risks will not be exacerbated by the expanded project given the same
suppliers and funding agreement template is to be used.

Costs

On 21 September 2018, the Managing Director (via approved delegation)
granted approval of the full business case with finalised costs (decision point
5) with a total scheme cost of £6.088 million. The total forecast scheme cost
presented through this change request is £9.570 million. A breakdown is
provided below:

Assurance pathway Existing approved scheme | Change request proposal
Combined Authority DEFRA | £2.84 million £5.816 million
Grant

Leeds City Council DEFRA £1.37 million £1.37 million
Grant

Leeds City Council LPTIP £850,000 £850,000
contribution

Bus Operator Match £1.028 million £1.534 million
Contribution

Total Scheme Costs £6.088 million £9.570 million
Total funding which £5.06 million £8.036 million
Combined Authority is the

accountable body for

The Combined Authority would now be the accountable body for £8.036
million of this funding.

The scheme, through this change request, seeks Combined Authority approval
of an additional £3.482 million of funding.

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast
approval date

Change request (activity 6) | Recommendation: Investment Committee | 01/08/2019

Decision: Combined Authority

6 (Delivery) Recommendation: Combined Authority's 31/03/2020
Programme Appraisal Team

47



Decision: Combined Authority's Director of
Delivery

7 (Review and close) Recommendation: Combined Authority's 31/03/2021
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Director of
Delivery

Other Key Timescales

2.109 The promoter to update the Portfolio Management Group in September 2019

on DEFRA approved delivery timescales.

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

That scheme costs remain within the funding envelope as set out in this report, except in
the circumstance where additional funding is made available to the Combined Authority to
extend the West Yorkshire wide delivery of the scheme, in which instance this approval will
be delegated to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director.

That delivery programme timescales remain within 3 months of that set out in this report
unless amendments are required as a result of the revised reporting timescales agreed with
DEFRA, in which instance this approval can be delegated to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director.

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Dave Pearson, Combined Authority
Project Manager Michael Ramsey, Combined Authority
Combined Authority case officer Asif Abed

Appraisal summary

2.110 The change request details the opportunity taken by the Combined Authority

2.111

2.112

to secure further funding made available by DEFRA, to enable delivery of an
expanded project and a wider geographical spread of benefits.

The promoter has evidenced that the acceptance of further funding to expand
the project was supported by the market demand feedback from bus
operators.

The increase in funding does not impact on existing Combined Authority
funding programmes given the additional funding is from an external public
sector body, supplemented with an increased element of bus operator match
contribution. The City Region will benefit from the additional output and the
significant environmental and health benefits it will yield, supporting delivery of
local and regional transport strategies and policies, as well as priority area 3 of
the City Region Strategic Economic Plan.

48




2.113 The endorsement of extended delivery timescales to 31 March 2020 by
DEFRA is justified given the promoter demonstrating the expanded project is
not deliverable within the existing scope timescales.

Recommendations

2.114 That the Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that
the change request to approve :

(i)

(ii)

(iif)
(iv)

(v)

The increase total scheme costs of from £6.088 million to £9.570 million,
(an increase of £3.482 million) is approved. This increase is funded from
£2.976 million of additional DEFRA grant and an estimate of a further
£506,000 bus operator match contribution.

The increase the Combined Authority contribution to the scheme from
£5.06 million to £8.036 million, (an increase of £2.976 million) is
approved. This will be funded from the additional DEFRA grant awarded
to Combined Authority.

The revised delivery timescales to 31 March 2020.

For the Combined Authority to enter into a grant agreement with the
preferred bus operator/s following procurement, for expenditure of up to
£2.976 million, to be funded from the additional DEFRA grant secured by
the Combined Authority.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.

49



2.115

2.116

2117

Decisions made through the delegation to the Managing Director

Since Investment Committee’s meeting on the 11 June 2019, decisions
regarding the following schemes has been exercised. This decision was made
though the delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director following
a recommendation from Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. In
order for a decision to be made through a delegation to the Managing Director,
the scheme must remain within the assurance tolerances that have been
approved at an earlier decision point. All the schemes outlined below have
remained within their approved delegations unless stated otherwise below.

Investment Readiness Support Programme

This scheme will support the growth of SMEs across Leeds City Region by
providing them with an impartial and confidential advice service on how to
prepare for, and access, the full range of finance options available to them.
This will include finance products and services delivered by the private and
public sectors, including the LEP’s grants and loans, the Northern Powerhouse
Investment Fund, Start-Up Loans, R&D Tax Credits, Innovate UK, mainstream
commercial finance and new technology-led options, such as crowdfunding,
factoring and bitcoin.

The scheme received decision point 2 (case paper approval) from the
Combined Authority on 13 December 2018. The scheme received decision
point 5 approval (full business case with finalised costs) through delegation to
the Combined Authority’s Managing Director on the 14 June 2019 and will now
proceed into activity 6 (delivery). This approved the total project cost of £1.429
million, and the Combined Authority contribution of £714,500 (which will be
funded through the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool). The remaining
contribution £714,500 will be funded by European Regional Development
Funding (ERDF).

Financial implications

The report seeks endorsement for expenditure from the available Combined
Authority funding as set out in this report.

Legal implications

The payment of funding to any recipient will be subject to a funding agreement
being in place between the Combined Authority and the organisation in
question.

Staffing implications

A combination of Combined Authority and local partner council project,
programme and portfolio management resources are in the process of being
identified and costed for within the schemes in this report.

50



7.1

External consultees

Where applicable scheme promoters have been consulted on the content of
this report.

Recommendations
Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation Package
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation
Package proceeds through decision point 2 (case paper) and work
commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(i)  An indicative approval is given to the Combined Authority’s contribution
of £1.895 million, which will be funded through the Transforming Cities
Fund, with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has
progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full
business case with finalised costs). The total project value is £2.2 million.

(iii) Development costs of £337,000 are approved (including £150,000 for
advanced construction works on the Huddersfield element) in order to
progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB) scheme
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(v) The Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB) scheme proceeds through decision
point 2 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

(vi) An indicative approval is given to the Combined Authority’s contribution
of £1.650 million (which will be funded through £1.033 million from Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) and £617,000 from the
DfT ULEB scheme fund), with full approval to spend being granted once
the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision
point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). The total project value of
£2.7 million.

(vii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway

and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director

51



7.2

7.3

following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

A629 Phase 4

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The A629 Phase 4, scheme proceeds through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 (full business case).

An indicative approval to the total project value of £25.928 million is given
from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

Additional development costs of £3.94 million are approved in order to
progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs) taking the total project development cost approval to £4.585
million.

That to fund land acquisition costs of up to £2.5 million is approved, with
final approval to claim against this approval delegated to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director when finalised costs are known.

The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing Funding
Agreement with Calderdale Council for expenditure of up to £7.085
million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 and 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal
Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances
outlined in this report.

Harrogate Road / New Line project

The Investment Committee approves that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Harrogate Road / New Line project proceeds through decision point
4 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £6.765
million (which will be funded through the West Yorkshire Plus Transport
Fund) is given with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme
has progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full
business case with finalised costs). The total project value is £11.427
million.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5

52



7.4

7.5

through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Halifax Station Gateway
That Investment Committee approves that:

(i) The change request to the Halifax Station Gateway project to provide
£247,336 of additional development funds is approved.

(i) The timeframe extension outlined in this report is approved.

(i) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing funding
agreement with Calderdale Council for additional expenditure of
£247,336 taking the total approval up to £1.355 million from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5 through
a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal
Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances
outlined in this report.

York Outer Ring Road (YORR) Phase 1
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The change request to the York Outer Ring Road (YORR) Phase 1
(A1237 — B1224 Wetherby Road Junction upgrade) to approve the
additional expenditure for encountered issues on site during the
construction phase is approved. This is subject to the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team’s acceptance of revised scheme
cost estimates, showing the re-profiled risk and contingency budgets.

(i) The total cost of Phase 1 of the YORR scheme is increased to £4.054
million from £3.599 million, with the additional costs of £266,581 being
met through the existing programme budget of £38.276 million.

(i) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing funding
agreement with City of York Council for additional total approved
expenditure of up to £266,581 from the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.

53



7.6

8.1

Clean Bus Technology Fund

That the Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that
the change request to the Clean Bus Technology Fund is approved :

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

To increase total scheme costs of from £6.088 million to £9.570 million,
(an increase of £3.482 million) is approved. This increase is funded from
£2.976 million of additional DEFRA grant and an estimate of a further
£506,000 bus operator match contribution.

To increase the Combined Authority contribution to the scheme from
£5.06 million to £8.036 million, (an increase of £2.976 million) is
approved. This will be funded from the additional DEFRA grant awarded
to Combined Authority.

To endorse the revised delivery timescales to 31 March 2020.

For the Combined Authority to enter into grant agreement/s with the
preferred bus operator following procurement, for expenditure of up to
£2.976 million, to be funded from the additional DEFRA grant secured by
the Combined Authority.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway
and Approval Route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

Background documents

None as part of this report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Background to the report

Appendix 2 - Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation

Package business case summary

Appendix 3 — Ultra Low Emission Buses business case summary

Appendix 4 — A629 Phase 4 business case summary

Appendix 5 - Harrogate Road — New Line business case summary

54



Agenda Iltem 5

Appendix 1

West
Yorkshire

Combined
Authority

Appendix 1: Background to the report
Information

1.1 This report puts forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a
number of schemes for approval by the Combined Authority, following
consideration by the West Yorkshire and York’s Investment Committee. The
Combined Authority will recall that a three stage approach has been
introduced as part of an enhancement to current project management
arrangements, with the requirement that all projects subject to minor
exceptions as detailed in the assurance framework, will as a minimum, need to
formally pass decision point 2 (case paper approval) and 5 (final cost
approval) highlighted below, with the requirement to meet the intervening
activities deemed on a project by project basis.

Activity 1 Activity 2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

X3S, | DD, =

/ J

Stage 1: Eligibility Stage 2: Development \ Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

1.2  The Programme Appraisal Team (PAT) appraises all schemes at the decision
points. The PAT consists of an independent panel of officers representing
policy, legal, financial, assurance and delivery. The scheme promoters from
our partner councils or partner delivery organisations attend the meeting to
introduce the scheme and answer questions from the panel. The terms of
reference for the PAT are contained within the Leeds City Region Assurance
Framework.

Future assurance and approval route

1.3  The tables for each scheme in the main report outlines the proposed
assurance process and corresponding approval route for the scheme. The
assurance pathway sets out the decision points which the scheme must
progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of the scheme. The
approval route indicates which committees or officers will make both a
recommendation and approval of the scheme at each decision point. A
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has
received prior approval from the Combined Authority.

55



Tolerances

1.4  In order for the scheme to follow the assurance pathway and approval route
that is proposed in this report, it should remain within the tolerances outlined
for each scheme. If these tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to
return to Investment Committee and/or the Combined Authority for further

consideration.

56



Agenda Iltem 5

Appendix 2

Scheme summary

Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation

Name of scheme:

Package
PMO scheme code: DFT-TCF-001
Lead organisation: West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Kirklees Council
Senior responsible Richard Hollinson - Kirklees Council

officer:

Lead promoter contact: | Robert Stanley

Case officer: lan McNichol

Applicable funding
stream(s) — grant or Transforming Cities Fund
loan:

Growth Fund priority

area (if applicable): Priority 4 — Infrastructure for Growth

Department for Transport funding award following Transforming

Approvals to date: Cities Fund small bid

Forecasted full approval | October 2019
date (decision point 5):

Forecasted completion October 2020
date (decision point 6):

Total scheme cost (£): £2.2 million
Combined Authority Transforming Cities Fund - £1.895 million
funding (£):

TransPennine Express Customer Investment Fund - £105,000
Kirklees Capital Funding Huddersfield Town Centre Exceptional
Maintenance Programme- £200,000

Total other public sector
investment (£):

Total other private -
sector investment (£):

Is this a standalone

project? pes

Is this a programme? No

57



Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

TCF Tranche 1

Current assurance process activity:

Stage 1: Eligibility

Activity 1 Aetvity 2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

FBC with
Case Finalised Close &
Paper ’ ' e ° Costs ° o Review o

SlavcZdbEveiopi et Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation \

/

Scheme Description

The scheme will deliver a package of walking and cycling enhancements that will provide a
significant improvement in walking and cycling connectivity to and from Dewsbury and
Huddersfield Rail Stations, as well as Huddersfield Bus Station and adjacent development

sites.

These interventions will significantly improve passenger arrival and interchange experience at
these stations that are not dependent on the TransPennine Route Upgrade. The funding will
enable the following outputs:

o Dewsbury: Walking and cycling enhancements at the eastern entrance to improve
accessibility and improve information. Further interventions within the station will
create a more attractive environment for people arriving on foot and by bike to
encourage the use of public transport and provide inclusive interchange facilities.

e Huddersfield: The scheme will transform bus-rail interchange via the walking and
cycling route between the bus and rail stations through the addition of crossings, way-
marking, and pedestrian and cyclist safety enhancements.

Business case summary:

Strategic case

Kirklees District is located on the TransPennine Rail Line between Leeds,
Manchester and Manchester Airport. Dewsbury and Huddersfield act as
transport hubs for wider pan-northern connections, and as service,
residential and employment hubs.

This scheme aligns with the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy vision
and objectives of:

e Improving connectivity and reduce congestions
o Delivering a positive impact on our built and natural environment
e Creating a ‘sense of place’

This scheme also aligns with the Transforming Cities Fund Programme
objectives by:

¢ Investing in new local transport infrastructure to boost productivity

58




¢ Improving public and sustainable transport connectivity

e Improving access to employment sites, Enterprise Zones,
development sites, and the new urban centre, which is a key
employment hub.

The Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan Priority 4 - Infrastructure
for Growth, is supported with this scheme as it will provide sustainable
and active transport infrastructure that helps strengthen, support and
grow the City Region’s Urban Centres.

Commercial
case

Huddersfield Rail Station is the second most used station in West
Yorkshire with an estimated 5.5 million people entering and exiting the
station annually (based on 2017/18 data). The West Yorkshire Transport
Strategy 2040 sets a target for rail usage to grow by 75% by 2027 and it
is forecast that passengers passing through Huddersfield Rail Station will
increase to almost 10 million per year by 2027.

Huddersfield Bus Station is the busiest bus station in West Yorkshire with
around 12 million people entering and exiting each year.

Dewsbury Rail Station has seen improvements to its eastern entrance
where pedestrian and cycle accessibility were improved to enable easier
access for students attending Pioneer House, a new centre for higher
level skills and apprenticeships and post-19 studies. Improvements to the
northern entrance will enable further access to Pioneer House and
improve accessibility for vulnerable user groups.

The scheme will be delivered using Kirklees Council’s in-house
procurement framework.

Economic
case

Benefit of this scheme include:

e Improved connectivity and journey times (pedestrians and
cyclists)

¢ Reduced congestion

e Improved air quality and reduced carbon emissions

e Improved health and reduced mortality

e Accident reduction (vulnerable users)

e Bus and rail user benefits

e Accessibility improvements

e Supporting economic regeneration and access to job opportunities

The BCR of the scheme at strategic outline business case stage is
20.29:1 which represents very high value for money as per the
Department for Transport’s criteria. It is expected that this BCR will be
refined at outline business case when more detailed appraisal is
undertaken.

59




Financial case | The total cost for this project is £2.2 million. The scheme will be funded
through the Transforming Cities Fund and other public and private sector
contributions.

Management This project will be delivered by Kirklees Council, with minor measures
case (within Dewsbury Rail Station) being installed by TransPennine Express.
It is expected that the works at Dewsbury will be completed by May 2020
and the works at Huddersfield will be completed by November 2020.

This project will be reviewed at the Kirklees Major Projects Board and
issues/ changes escalated to the Combined Authority Programme Board.

No planning consents are required as the scheme lies fully within the
public highway. Traffic Regulation Orders will be required for some
aspects of the scheme.

A combined project risk register has been established and this document
will be reviewed and updated as the projects progress. Monitoring and
Evaluation plans will be developed as the project progresses.

Location map:

The following location maps show the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation Package
Dewsbury & Huddersfield Stations

Dewsbury
Learning
Quarter
.K\rklees Cyc@g and
Walking Ear‘\y Gateway
‘Transformation Package .. . Wikt g
Yo, . e

i,

Dewshur;

., Mirfield to
s . Dewsbury to
& ‘. ‘Leeds (M2D2L)

Dewsbury
~“Riverside

.. Mirfield

1 centimeter = 0.37 kilometers

© OpenStreetMap (and) contr\butors;-‘GQﬁY—SA

60



7

Kirklees Cycling and Walking Early Gateway Transformation Package

¥
¥

CIP,/ Kirklees
/AB2 Smart
. Corridor Phase 1

s i Huddetield! 5
EEBOTe Fo - Railpiay
i ] o V’E_dh(l
& =/
4 3 ot
24 s
# i
. KirkleesCyclingand * . FA
“‘Walking.Early Gateway . HuddersHiuddersfield
[ = Transformation’ Southgrn Qomdors
A e, T - Queensgate
" i 2 g,
g i
. ¢ :kirk?!ees Housing:’ } f'-
5 ey e Hudderfield |
Waterfront
£ Huddersfigldys..,
/g - Southern Corridors -
[§ | % lLeongroydBridgs Huddersfield Southern
|3 T ~ Corridors - Folly Hall
o . Huddersfield”

Solthern Corridors
| - Lockwood Bar,

1 centimeter = 0.22 kilometers 1 %
1 ! kY

Dewsbury & Huddersfield Stations

& &
p
o
Wakefigy ’
&
et
Hokehety pos =
o » o 3

© OpenétreetMap (and) contributors, 'CC—E!\_{—SA

61




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Appendix 3
Scheme summary
Name of scheme: Ultra-Low Emissions Bus (ULEB) Scheme
PMO scheme code: DFT-ULEB-001
Lead organisation: West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Senior responsible Helen Ellerton
officer:
Lead promoter contact: | Roseanna Brett-Davis
Case officer: lan McNichol
Applicable funding Leeds Public Transport Investment Fund (LPTIP) and
stream(s) — grant or Department for Transport Ultra-Low Emissions Bus (ULEB)
loan: scheme.

Decision point 2 LPTIP (Investment Committee 16" June 2017
Approvals to date: and Combined Authority 29" June 2017)

DfT ULEB scheme bid (CA S151 Officer 9™ July 2018)

Forecasted full approval

date (decision point 5): January 2020
Forecasted completion

date (decision point 6): December 2020

Total scheme cost (£): | £2.7 million
Combined Authority £1.033 million (LPTIP)

funding (£):

Total other public sector | £617,000 DfT ULEB scheme
investment (£):

Total other private

sector investment (£): £1.050 million (Stourton Park and Ride operator)

Is this a standalone

project? vee

Is this a programme? No

Is this project part of an

agreed programme? Yes, LPTIP (Bus Delivery package)

63



Current assurance process activity:

Activity 1 Activity2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

b FBC with
f Case Finalised Close &
Paper ° Costs ° Review °

/

Stage 1: Eligibility Stage 2: Development Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation \

Scheme description:

This scheme will provide seven, electric, double-deck buses to be used on the route between
the new Stourton Park and Ride site and Leeds Bus Station as well as the installation of two
100kw rapid charging units located at Leeds Bus Station.

The addition of the ultra-low emission double-deck buses will enhance the £23 million ‘low-
energy’ Stourton Park and Ride site in south Leeds being delivered by Leeds City Council as
part of the Connecting Leeds Programme. The buses will achieve a minimum 30% reduction
in ‘well-to-wheel’ carbon dioxide emissions compared with Euro 6, with potential for greater
efficiency by using 1MW of solar energy produced on-site at the park and ride.

Business case summary:

Strategic case The key objectives of the scheme are to:

o Delivery of 7 ultra-low emission double-decker buses to serve the
Stourton Park and Ride site to Leeds bus station route.

¢ Installation of 2 x 100kw rapid charging units at Leeds Bus Station

e Procurement of an operator for the park and ride bus service

e Removal of 344kg of Nitrogen Dioxide (NOx) emissions and 6kg of
particulate matter (PM) over five years (in comparison to the
operation of Euro 6 buses).

e Removal of 617 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2eq)
greenhouse gas emissions over five years compared with diesel
variants.

The scheme is in line with Priority 3 ‘Clean Energy and Environmental
Resilience’ of the Leeds City Region’s Strategic Economic Plan. The West
Yorkshire Transport Strategy, which supports delivery of the Strategic
Economic Plan objectives, include a commitment to provide a
comprehensive electric vehicle (EV) charging network and work with bus
operators to move to a near-to-zero emissions bus fleet.

The adopted West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy sets out
recommendations to significantly improve local air quality including
investment in bus retrofit and zero-emission technology to create cleaner,
healthier environments.

Buses are currently responsible for 42% of nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions
within central Leeds. This investment in zero-emission buses is an
important step in supporting Leeds to achieve nitrogen dioxide (NO2)
compliance quickly and improving the quality of place within inner and
central city areas. Leeds City Council has proposed a range of actions to
address annual NO2 legal limit exceedances including a proposed ‘Class
B’ Clean Air Zone for 2020 which encompasses inner Leeds including the

64




Stourton Park and Ride bus route.

Commercial
case

Research by Public Health England undertaken as part of the West
Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy has identified that almost 1,000
premature deaths each year are as a result of air pollution in the region,
with a significant source being road transport that is accountable for over
60% of local roadside emissions. Local monitoring has identified localised
NO2 exceedances on the route operated by the proposed ULEB funded
Stourton park and ride service.

The DEFRA ‘UK Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide
Concentrations’ (July 2017) requires Leeds City Council to mitigate
forecast NO2 exceedances by 2020. The seven EV double-deck buses are
forecast to remove 344kg of NOx emissions and 6kg of PM from the local
environment compared to the operation of Euro 6 diesel buses. This is
critical for reducing emissions along the A61 Hunslet Road corridor to
within legal limits.

The OJEU procurement of an operator to run the Stourton park and ride
service will ensure a competitive process that will deliver value for money
in a fair and state-aid-compliant manner. The tender will specify vehicle
criteria to ensure the Combined Authority delivers the ULEB scheme
requirements.

Economic case

This scheme contributes to the Strategic Economic Plan priorities as
follows:

¢ Growing Business — The use of ULEB from the park and ride site
provides improved access to businesses in Leeds via a sustainable
travel mode and helps reduce congestion in Leeds city centre.

o Skilled People, Better Jobs — The park and ride will give wider
access to the higher skilled jobs and educational opportunities in
Leeds city centre and beyond. The use of ULEB will also give local
companies the opportunity to gain experience using EV technology
in a rapidly expanding market sector.

o Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience —the scheme will
make a significant contribution to efforts to reduce emissions on an
important transport corridor and in Leeds city centre. Additionally,
monitoring activities will allow performance data to be assessed
informing future approaches in this field.

e Infrastructure for Growth - the installation of charging
infrastructure will support future adoption of electric buses and
encourage uptake by addressing bus operator's anxiety about
battery range. Increasing the proportion of electric buses operating
in the region will help to address the need for air quality
improvements and carbon emission reductions.

This bid will enhance the ‘Connecting Leeds’ programme which is
improving public transport travel and complements delivery of the
Combined Authority’s £4.2 million Clean Bus Technology Fund through
which retrofited technology is removing NO2 emissions from buses serving
areas of Leeds, including the city’s worst exceedance areas.

The rapid charging infrastructure will support wider operator electric bus
fleet roll out, reducing the high level of operator capital investment required
to support electric bus operation. Ultimately this investment will lead to zero
emission operation for services accessing Leeds Bus Station where

65




currently NO2 concentrations are significantly higher than limits. The
scheme will also look to encourage wider uptake of ULEV buses by
providing operational data for use in future project development.

The Ultra-Low Emission Bus Scheme is a specific government fund to
improve the uptake of ULEBs. Options regarding potential solutions are
therefore limited, but the funding bid did include evaluation of the type of
ULEB vehicle that would be required to serve the park and ride site, plus
evaluation of the duty cycle and charging requirements. A comparison was
carried out with the emissions performance of a conventional Euro 6
vehicle.

Financial case

The programme has been developed to ensure maximum value for money
through engagement with different manufacturers to ensure costs are
competitive and realistic.

The totally scheme costs will be £2.7 million with the following funding
breakdown:

e DfT Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB) funding - The scheme is
supported by a successful Ultra-Low Emission Bus (ULEB)
Scheme bid, with a confirmed grant award of £617,000. This
funding is capital support for vehicle and charging point delivery.
The funding covers seven vehicles needed to serve the site,
contributing towards technological cost difference of the electric
buses compared to the diesel equivalent.

e Connecting Leeds Programme (LPTIP) — Funding of £556,886
has been allocated from the Connecting Leeds Programme
towards match funding the technological cost difference of the five
buses in the ULEB bid and £380,000 towards the electric bus
technological cost difference of the additional two vehicles needed
to serve the site. This is alongside £96,000 towards charging units
and installation costs. There is also a 30% risk allocation from this
funding source as a contingency on charging unit costs.

¢ Appointed Park and Ride Operator - The appointed operator will
be required to provide match funding in the form of the baseline
vehicle costs (i.e. diesel equivalent). This will be in the region of
£1,050,000.

The successful ULEB bid also complements the £6.4 million application by
Leeds City Council to the European Structural Investment Fund (ESIF) for
solar photovoltaic (PV) canopy, energy storage and 150kW bus charging
infrastructure works that will benefit EV bus operation at the park and ride
site through use of 925kW of renewable energy.

All project spend is anticipated to be in the 2020/21 financial year.
Construction of the park and ride site is expected to be completed in
December 2020, with the new buses and charging infrastructure in place.

Management
case

The Combined Authority is the scheme promoter and will be leading on its
overall project management. The Combined Authority will be delivery lead
for OJEU procurement of a bus operator serving the park and ride site
(including ‘passporting’ of ULEB bus grant), and delivery lead for charge
point installation at Leeds Bus Station. All delivery related to the
‘Connecting Leeds’ programme, including ULEB, is subject to the
established Combined Authority approval and assurance process under
the adopted Assurance Framework.

Leeds City Council is the delivery lead for the Connecting Leeds

66




programme, including the Stourton park and ride site. Leeds City Council
will be the financial accountable body and delivery lead for elements
delivered by ESIF match funding including installation of PV solar canopy,
energy storage unit and 150kW park and ride bus charge point.

The Connecting Leeds Programme has a programme board with joint SRO
leadership from West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Leeds City
Council. Below this there are several project delivery boards with
representation from both authorities. ULEB delivery and finance would be
managed through the Connecting Leeds Bus Infrastructure Board.

A full OJEU procurement process by the Combined Authority is scheduled
for 2019, to contractually appoint a bus operator to run the Stourton park
and ride service for a minimum five-year contract from site opening. The
OJEU procurement process will be the mechanism to secure operator
match and distribution of ULEB grant, ensuring state-aid compliance. The
operator will be required to adhere to the DfT grant conditions and
specification of this application. Procurement of the vehicles will be the
responsibility of the bus operator. There is minimal risk associated with this
approach as the Combined Authority has previously tendered park and ride
operations successfully.

67




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Appendix 4
Scheme Summary
Name of Scheme: A629 Phase 4
PMO Scheme Code: WYTF-PA4-015
Lead Organisation: Calderdale Council
Senior Responsible Mark Thompson
Officer:

Lead Promoter Contact: | Chris Hoesli

Case Officer: Asif Abed

Applicable Funding
Stream(s) — Grant or Grant — West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund
Loan:

Growth Fund Priority

Area (if applicable): Priority 4 - Infrastructure for Growth

5 October 2017 Combined Authority approval at decision point 2 (case
paper):
e Indicative approval of £30 million scheme costs from the West
Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund
e £0.570m of additional project development costs, taking total

approval to £0.645m to progress the scheme to decision point 3
(Outline business case)

Approvals to Date:

Forecasted Full
Approval Date (Decision | Summer 2023
Point 5):

Forecasted Completion

Date (Decision Point 6): SUTMITIEL AT 2029

Total Scheme Cost (£): £25.928 million

Combined Authority

Funding (£): £25.928 million

Total other public sector | £0 (potential for Highways England contribution which will offset West
investment (£): Yorkshire plus Transport Fund requested)

Total other private

sector investment (£): £0

Is this a standalone

Project? No

69



Is this a Programme? No

Is this Project part of an

agreed Programme? Yes - A629 Corridor Programme

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility Stage 2: Pipeline Development Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 1 Activity 2 ACTVITy D Activity 4 Activity §

FBC with
;3359 / Finalised
( °/ 9 C

Activity 6 Activity 7

Close &
o Review o

/

Scheme Description:

The A629 Halifax to Huddersfield scheme is the fourth (and final) phase of the A629 corridor
improvement programme.

The A629 corridor programme has been jointly developed in partnership between Calderdale
Metropolitan Borough Council and Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council and addresses
strategic accessibility through highway capacity and operational improvements, cycle
infrastructure and enhancements to the bus network.

Phase 4 provides the multimodal infrastructure following capacity improvements from Phases
1a, 1b and 5, focusing on a holistic corridor view to address journey times and routing for
sustainable modes between Halifax and Huddersfield.

N

Legend
* Severance Improvements|

C Highway Improvements

— Cycle Routes : 2
| imited Stop Bus Route H{muw;nc WA LS 1'?.1;0133
ight 2018

Contains O cats ©Crown Copyright and dsaE it 2

Scheme Area

Business Case Summary:

From an economic context, commuting flows show that there is an
insufficient number of jobs within Kirklees, resulting in a higher level of
outward commuting. Therefore, there is an opportunity for job creation
within Kirklees, to address the commuting imbalance, and promote
economic expansion.

Strategic Case

Similarly, job creation within Calderdale has the potential to reduce the
level of outward commuters and could also reduce the higher level of




Commercial
Case

Calderdale’s population is expected to grow by 12% over the next
20 years and Kirklees by 6% by 2026. Significant, planned job
growth in Halifax, Huddersfield, the Copley Valley, Elland,
Brighouse, Lindley and Huddersfield Royal Infirmary will
accommodate this increase.

The UDM analysis mapped out specific spatial patterns where growth
would be limited, in addition to a map of West Yorkshire highlighting
congestion hotspots. One of these corridors, which combined
accommodate around 60% of all traffic and economic activity in West
Yorkshire, was the A629.

More locally, the Local Plan transport evidence base for both Calderdale
and Kirklees predicts how increased demands on the West Yorkshire Key
Route Network (WYKRN) will constrain future economic growth if the
current performance of the A629 is not improved, compromising the
viability of Local Plan sites located along the corridor.

Procurement of a contractor will be through the YORCivils framework, via
a single stage tender process. The YORCivils process aligns with
Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council’s and Kirklees Metropolitan
Borough Council’s aspirations to engage with and use local suppliers,
labour and skills, while offering contract management expertise.

Economic Case

The long list of options has considered the aspirations of the overall A629
Corridor Improvement proposals, which are summarised in the three
headline objectives of:

e improving accessibility to the economic centres of Halifax and

Huddersfield;

o facilitating local development,

e job creation.
Through the long list process, 132 interventions were identified. The
majority focused on specific sections of the corridor, while others were
more holistic, corridor wide proposals covering the following themes:

Public transport (bus and rail)

Walking

Cycling

Freight

Public realm

Policy

Technology / Urban Traffic Management Control
Park & Ride

The process for identification of potential schemes aimed to be inclusive
of all options and reflect the growth aspirations of Calderdale and
Kirklees, while appreciating that some of the issues identified have been
resolved through other phases of the A629 corridor proposals.

The preferred option demonstrates a benefit cost ratio of 1.089:1, which
when assessed against the Department for Transport’s value for money
criteria, this would score as a low value for money scheme. However, the
proposal has strong strategic drivers of addressing connectivity concerns
along the A629 corridor for both public transport and active travel mode
users, supporting reduction in road congestion, and improving

71




connectivity.

Financial Case

Total project outturn capital cost is £25.928 million, to be wholly funded
from the West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund.

It is anticipated project development costs will be expended by summer
2023 (Full business case with finalised costs approval), with construction
costs to be incurred to summer/autumn 2025 (practical completion).

Phase 4 is to be delivered within the £120.6 million West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund allocation for the A629 Corridor and Halifax Town Centre
Plan programme.

Management
Case

Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council has the project management
systems, skills and track record to be able to deliver this project
successfully, alongside robust procurement and financial monitoring
systems. This is demonstrated by delivery of numerous externally funded
projects, most recently, the £8.5 million West Yorkshire-plus Transport
Fund A629 Phase 1a project, which completed on time in November
2018 within budget.

The Major Projects team at Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council is
leading on A629 Phase 4, with representatives from KMBC working in
partnership with Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council.

The project delivery team operates within very robust rules and
procedures. This ensures that the West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund
team maintains compliance with current UK and EU legislation and stays
in line with the wider Councils priority outcomes; growth, ambition,
resilience, sustainability, efficiency and fairness.

Approval of the full business with finalised costs is expected in summer
2023, with completion of construction by summer/autumn 2025.

Early undertaking of land negotiations and compulsory purchase orders
will minimise the risk of scheme non-delivery.

Key Stakeholder Engagement and public engagement was completed in
Spring 2019 and received largely positive responses to the proposals.
Further public engagement will take place at the end of the preliminary
design stage. Engagement with landowners and specialist/interest
groups will be ongoing throughout the FBC development.

Location map:

The following location maps shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area including the individual phases of
the A629 scheme.

72




A629 Phase 4 > S
— : " Green S, | = E,’ o g
3 g : Sitey o Eastern iy g S T g Vi
: %Gateway Sites A g
Wi #CIR.5 Northgate H@use £
\ 2 Calderdale - Halifax” ™ g
1 ABBIAGT2 | Halifax ey s :
“ | Station ¥ ” Miltertg
~= Saile Park b Clifton b
4 Business Park fied
< X s ~Enterprise Zone
- P G S "7 MoorPark””
= . ~ Mirfield
Aezg A 4 > ;‘ L g Enterprise Zone
Phase 4 I o
{ = Mirfield to
i = Dewsbury to
e ! S = Leeds (M2D2L)
o .
RipAdnden o g
Moor West peaonf
Enterprlse Zone Cowrlte L=
| z @ Tindiey CIP - Kirklees .~
I Moor East AB2 Smart
¢ Enterprise Zone Corridor Phase 1
4 5 Mar
N Walklng Early Galeway
o M o “Huddersfield Soulhem Transformaﬂone Waterioo
N g _Corridors™~ Folly Hall £ *
&~ tea e ; . J Huddersfield Southern L
> 7" . Corridors - Queensgate '\.W
i
— " Huddersfleld ‘Southem
1 centimeter = 0.94 kilometers 1 s p Gomdors Lockwood Bar
g ; by Brow ©:0OpenStreetMap: (and) tontr\butors CC-BY-SA
Mount Pellon 1 # %
Northgate | A629 Phase 1a, 1b and 5 Scholes
s e Pellon House — g G
AB29 Bltase e §
2 ‘HgﬁfahH f - : '
arley Town Cénler, Lo % |
v Station
CIP - Gateway Ghtown
friendly Calderdale King Cross 1 ! indy Bank
A5BIAGT2 AB29 > Sy
3 | Phase 1a %
A2 savile Park (Completed)  southowran
e Clifton
4 N Sidda Business Park
o N terffosb Enterpnse Zone
- "' .
G /7 N
N A629 » Elland g Y /
%12, \Phase 1’ _Station__~~ i pree
et e 2 4 e~ e
» Elland Lower F; N\
eetland Pdge & \ 1 g,
= Elland e,
Fm 861 Hulleng Ella A
= Bradiey errleld.to
G oy | A4 /_.<Dewsbury to %
arkisiand [ Lo “Leeds (M2D2L) =
o
AR Lincley g
Lindley Moor@ast Deighton;?
Moor. West Enterprise Zone Sheepridge #
Enterprise Zone 2 EORITS i
il g > o % S
od G i AB29 owr
3 four Phase 5 /
’ by ; Irkheaton
Outlang Sale w‘:( k CIP - Kirkl(s;_i_. Rawthorpe
o J" AB2 Smart
Dakes c 4
40 4 Marsh % elds /F
D ) Huddersfield'Southern”
1 centimeter= 0.7 kilormeters S pecpe N Coricorss Qu;e:lsgatel_: 3 Moldgreen - s Waterloo
& i ] " AR Hudldr reFes‘ "%usgg)gppensrreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA

73



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Appendix 5
Scheme Summary
Name of scheme: Harrogate Road New Line Junction Improvement
PMO scheme code: WYTF-PA4-007
Lead organisation: City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Senior responsible Julian Jackson, Bradford Council
officer:

Lead promoter contact: | Ben McCormac, Bradford Council

Case officer: Tim Fawcett, Combined Authority

Applicable funding
stream(s) — Grant or West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund
Loan:

Growth Fund Priority

Area (if applicable): Priority Area 4 — Infrastructure for Growth

Outline business case was approved in November 2014.

Approvals to date: Currently £2.875 million approved to take the scheme to decision
point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

Forecasted full approval

date (decision point 5): December 2019

Forecasted completion

date (decision point 6): April 2021

Total scheme cost (£): £11.427 million

Combined Authority

funding (£): £6.765 million (West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund)

Total other public sector

investment (£): £2.736 million (Bradford Council)

Total other private

sector investment (£): £1.926 million (Section 106)

Is this a standalone

project? ves

Is this a programme? No

75



Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Yes — West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Activity 1

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility Stage 2: Pipeline Development

Case
Paper °

Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation
Activity 2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

X5 XD B, N .
Costs eview
S=—0""0 C

/

Scheme Description:

The project is to improve the junction of the A658 Harrogate Road and the A657 New Line.

The Scheme will involve major civil engineering works, including -

Substantial widening of the existing highway on all four arms of the junction.
Replacement and upgrading of the junction traffic signals.

New junction, which would facilitate left and right vehicle turning manoeuvres from
Harrogate Road.

Improvements to facilities for pedestrians including the provision of pedestrian
controlled crossings and central pedestrian islands.

Improvements to facilities for cyclists including the introduction of cycle lanes and
advance stop lines at traffic signals.

Demolition and reconstruction on new alignments of retaining wall features adjacent
to the AG57.

Closure of existing Farm Foods Supermarket’'s store highway access and
construction of a new access.

Accommodation works to affected land and properties

New and replacement planting and landscaping in multiple locations

Road lighting improvements.

Relocation of five bus stops.

Significant diversions of utilities companies’ plant and services.

The Scheme requires widening of the existing highway into land currently owned by the Council
and private landowners.

Business Case Summary:

Strategic Case

Improvements to the Harrogate Road / New Line junction will improve
traffic flows and reduce congestion on both the A658 and A657, improve
access to Leeds Bradford airport and to the rail station at Apperley Bridge.
It will also facilitate housing development in the immediate area, as well as

76




improving safety and reducing severance for pedestrians and cyclists.

Improving the Harrogate Road / New Line junction fulfils the objectives of
the West Yorkshire-plus Transport fund and also those of the West
Yorkshire Local Transport Plan. These include supporting economic
growth and improved quality of life through safer walking and cycling, and
reduced air pollution.

Commercial
Case

Both capacity and efficiency improvements have been tested in this Final
Business Case and are based on material from a number of sources,
including primary traffic surveys and the modelling tool developed
specifically for Harrogate Road / New Line.

Procurement will be OJEU notifiable and will be open tender. Delivery
route will be governed by the NEC3 form of Contract.

Acquisition of land has been subject to a CPO process which has now
been confirmed by the Secretary of State. However, negotiations will
continue and CPO powers will only be used where necessary.

Economic Case

Benefit Cost Ratio — 10.70:1
Value for Money — ‘Very High’ category

e Road user benefits - due to change in travel time and vehicle
operating cost.

o Safety benefits - due to a change in the number and/or severity of
accidents.

e Greenhouse gas reduction benefits.

Financial Case

Estimated total scheme cost - £11.427 million (includes £1.145 million of
risk, contingency and inflation)

Combined Authority contribution - £6.765 million
Bradford Council contribution - £2.736 million
Bradford S106 - £1.926 million

Management
Case

Delivery team (excluding appointed delivery partner) have been identified
and are aligned with the procurement strategy. Risks have been
identified, and a further construction phase risk & opportunity register will
be developed as part of the delivery plan. Risks will be pro-actively
managed by the delivery partner, the Council and the Combined
Authority.

Key programme dates have been identified along with interim milestones.
Again, a more detailed programme will be produced once a delivery
partner has been selected.

An agreed communications & stakeholder management plan will be
produced and will identify key measures to be taken. These could include
public forums, public drop in sessions, letter drops, social media
campaigns and media releases.

Location map:

77




The following location map shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

A centimeter = 0.47 kilometers

B e

Harrogate Road/New Line Junction Improvement |

(Greengates Bradford)

Harrogate Road/New Line
Junction’Improvement
(Greengates Bradford)

tane Vol &
g, §

¢ e ary

Apperley
Bridge Car
Park Extension

Alleviation
Scheme

A1620 Leeds Northern ~

Outer,Ring Road

_~Improvements, Leeds

Farsley

ABA7. Dawsons | Pudsey walking

cycling upgrade

Leeds Flood o

ABS-LBIA
Airport
Link Road

AB47 BUS
Priority
Corridor

Fink Hill
Junction

Leeds Outer Ring
Road Horsforth .,
Roundabout

-@penstreetiifiap-(and) contributors, ’Qg_‘—BY—SA

78




Agenda Iltem 6

West
Yorkshire

Combined
Authority

Report to:  West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date: 11 July 2019
Subject: Governance arrangements
Director: Angela Taylor, Director of Corporate Services

Author(s):  E Davenport

Is this a key decision? O Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? O Yes No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? O Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government
Act 1972, Part 1:

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To note revised terms of reference for the West Yorkshire and York
Investment Committee, and the appointment of the Chair and Deputy Chair of
this committee by the Combined Authority.

1.2  To appoint an advisory sub-committee of the West Yorkshire and York
Investment Committee, namely the Business Investment Panel, its members
and a Chair and Deputy Chair.

2. Information

Terms of Reference for the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

2.1 Attached for information as Appendix 1 to this report are revised terms of
reference for this committee, approved by the Combined Authority at its
Annual Meeting on 27 June 2019. These have been re-formatted to simplify
and clarify them: there are no substantive changes to the functions which the
Committee has been exercising.

79



2.2

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

3.1

41

5.1

6.1

The Combined Authority at its Annual Meeting also appointed Councillor Box
as Chair and Roger Marsh as Deputy Chair of the Committee.

Business Investment Panel

It is proposed that the Committee re-appoints the Business Investment Panel
as an advisory sub-committee of West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee, on the same terms of reference as for last municipal year. The
proposed terms of reference are attached as Appendix 2 to this report.

Appendix 3 to this report sets out the proposed membership for the sub-
committee.

It is proposed that the quorum for the sub-committee remains 4 voting
members including 2 members of the Combined Authority or other local
authority co-optee and 2 private sector representatives.

The West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee is also asked to appoint
a Chair and Deputy Chair for the Business Investment Panel.

Meeting dates

Meeting dates for the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee and the
Business Investment Panel were set out in the calendar of meetings approved
by the Combined Authority at the Annual Meeting.

Financial Implications

There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

Legal Implications

An advisory committee may appoint an advisory sub-committee under Section
102(4)(b) Local Government Act 1972. Political balance requirements under
Section 15 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 apply to the appointment
of members of the Combined Authority to a sub-committee, unless waived by
Section 17 of the 1989 Act.

Staffing Implications

There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

External Consultees

No external consultations have been undertaken.

80



7.1

Recommendations

That the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee:

7.1.1

7.1.2

713

7.1.5

7.1.6

Notes the terms of reference for the West Yorkshire and York
Investment Committee attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

Notes the appointments made by the Combined Authority of the Chair
and Deputy Chair of the West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee.

Appoints the Business Investment Panel on the terms of reference
set out in Appendix 2, with a quorum of 4 voting members, to include:

¢ 2 members of the Combined Authority or local authority co-optee,
and
e 2 private sector representatives.

Appoints to the Business Investment Panel, members of the Combined
Authority as set out in Appendix 3 to this report in accordance with
Section 17 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, and other voting
members to the Panel as set out in Appendix 3.

Appoints:

e Councillor Blake as Chair of the Business Investment Panel, and
e Simon Wright as Deputy Chair of the Business Investment Panel.

Notes the dates of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee
and the Business Investment Panel meetings as set out in the calendar
of meetings approved by the Combined Authority at the Annual
Meeting.

Background Documents

None.

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Terms of Reference for the West Yorkshire and York Investment

Committee

Appendix 2 — Terms of Reference for the Business Investment Panel
Appendix 3 — Membership of the Business Investment Panel

81



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 1

West
Yorkshire

Combined
Authority

Terms of Reference

West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

The West Yorkshire and York Investment committee is authorised:

1. To advise the Combined Authority in relation to any function' of the Combined
Authority relating to:
e economic development and
e economic and transport led regeneration.

2. In relation to any scheme under the Leeds City Region Assurance Framework:
e to make a decision to progress the scheme? in accordance with the scheme’s
bespoke approval pathway and approval route,?
e to make any recommendation to the Combined Authority* about progressing
the scheme, and
e to review the scheme’s impact and make any recommendation to the
Combined Authority.

3. To liaise with the Transport Committee to promote the strategic alignment of
regional transport funding investment.®

4. To respond to any report or recommendation from an overview and scrutiny
committee.®

"including in relation to

¢ scheme management and delivery arrangements, including the adoption, application and review
of the Leeds City Region Assurance Framework for schemes seeking funding from (or funding by)
the Combined Authority or the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (the LEP), and

¢ any function of the Combined Authority relating to its role as accountable body for the LEP.

2 After decision point 2 only and including determining change requests
3 with the exception of those cases where any decision would result in a revised financial approval
which exceeds the cumulative total of the financial approval and tolerance threshold agreed by the

Combined Authority at decision point 2 (or decision point 3) by more than 25%, in which case the
decision must be referred to the Combined Authority.

4 or to any relevant officer with delegated authority.
5 this may be through holding joint meetings with the Transport Committee.

6 of the Combined Authority, (in accordance with Scrutiny Standing Orders), or of any partner council.

V1 — Approved at the Combined Authority’s annual meeting 27 June 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 2

West
Yorkshire

Combined
Authority

Terms of Reference

Business Investment Panel’

The Business Investment Panel is authorised to advise the West Yorkshire and York
Investment Committee? and the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership in relation
to economic development loans and grants within the Leeds City Region.

" This is an advisory sub-committee of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee appointed

under S102(4)(b) Local Government Act 1972
2 Or the Managing Director on behalf of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

V1 —to be approved by the West Yorkshire8a%d York Investment Committee on 11 July 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



.8

Proposed membership of the Business Investment Panel 2019/20

CA Members
(voting)

Local Authority Co-optees
(voting)

Private Sector
Representatives
(voting)

Judith Blake (Chair) (L)

Shabir Pandor (L)

Bradford: Alex Ross-Shaw (L)
Calderdale: Jane Scullion (L)
Harrogate: Graham Swift (C)
Wakefield: Darren Byford (L)

Michael Allen

Colin Glass

Jonathan King

Marcus Mills

Simon Wright (Deputy Chair)
Gareth Yates

¢ Xipuaddy

9 wa)| epuaby



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

West
Yorkshi.re

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL
HELD ON TUESDAY, 4 JUNE 2019 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A,
WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:

Councillor Judith Blake CBE (Chair) Leeds City Council

Simon Wright (Deputy Chair) Yorkshire Bank

Councillor Graham Swift Harrogate Borough Council
Michael Allen NatWest Bank

Colin Glass OBE WGN

Gareth Yates Ward Hadaway

In attendance:

Vincent McCabe West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Phil Cole Leeds City Council

Lorna Holroyd West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Neill Fishman West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Lauren Thomas West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Megan Hemingway West Yorkshire Combined Authority

82. Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Tim Swift, Councillor
Pandor, Councillor Byford, Councillor Ross-Shaw and Marcus Mills.

83. Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests

Simon Wright declared that the grant applicant in Iltem 6, appendices 1 and 2
is a client of Yorkshire Bank, although he has had no direct involvement with
the business.

84. Exempt information - Exclusion of the press and public

Resolved: That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of Appendix 1 of Item 5 and Appendices 1 and 2 of Item
6 on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the press and
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information
and for the reasons set out in the report that in all the circumstances of the

89



85.

86.

87.

case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information .

Minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel held on 30
April 2019

Resolved: That the minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 30
April 2019 be approved and signed by the Chair.

Strategic Inward Investment Fund

The Panel considered a report which outlined the current position regards
progress in committing grants through the Leeds City Region Enterprise
Partnership (the LEP) Strategic Inward Investment Fund (SIIF).

It was noted that the number of actual direct jobs created now stood at 400,
rather than the previous figure of 378.

An update was provided on four previously approved projects, as detailed in
the exempt appendix 1.

It was noted there were no new grant applications for consideration at this
meeting.

Resolved: That the Panel notes the progress of the Strategic Inward
Investment Fund (SIIF).

Business Grants Programme

The Panel considered a report which outlined the current position regarding
progress in committing grants through the Leeds City Enterprise Partnership
(the LEP) Business Grants Programme (BGP).

The Panel members considered the application outlined in 3.1 and detailed in
exempt appendices 1 and 2.

It was noted that the proposed changes which members had previously been
asked to consider in relation to programme criteria had been discussed, along
with members comments, at Business Innovation and Growth (BIG) panel on
the 28 May 2019. An update was given to the Panel members in light of this.
These proposed changes will now be considered at the LEP Board meeting on
18 July 2019.

Resolved:

(i) That the Panel noted the progress report.

(i)  That the Panel considered the application outlined in 3.1 and
recommended that the project be approved at a lower level, subject to

proof of external funding being provided.

(iii) That the proposed changes to the programme criteria and subsequent

90



update be noted.
88. Date of next meeting

The next meeting is 12 July 2019 at 2pm in Committee Room A, Wellington
House Leeds.

91



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee held on 11 June
	5 Capital Spending & Project Approvals
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 - Background to the Report
	Item 5 - Appendix 2 - BC Summary - Kirklees Cycling and Walking
	Item 5 - Appendix 3 - BC Summary -ULEB
	Item 5 - Appendix 4 - BC Summary - A629 Phase 4
	Item 5 - Appendix 5 - BC Summary - Harrogate Road-New Line

	6 Governance Arrangements
	Item 6 - Appendix 1 - West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee TOR
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 - Business Investment Panel TOR
	Item 6 - Appendix 3 - BIP Membership 2019

	7 Minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel held on 4 June

